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About Airgas

Founded in 1982, Airgas has become the largest U.S. distributor of industrial,
medical and specialty gases, and welding, safety and related products. 
Its integrated network of about 800 locations includes branches, 
retail stores, cylinder fill plants, specialty gas labs, production facilities and
distribution centers. Airgas also distributes its products and services through
eBusiness, catalog and telesales channels. Its national scale and 
strong local presence offer a competitive edge to a diversified customer base.
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WE’VE BUILT THIS COMPANY BY EXPANDING OUR LOCAL 
PRESENCE, DEVELOPING THE RIGHT PRODUCTS, DISTRIBUT-
ING THEM TO OUR CUSTOMERS AT THE RIGHT TIME, WITH
THE RIGHT EXPERTISE, AND PURSUING GROWTH THROUGH
CORE AND STRATEGIC PRODUCT AREAS.
BY FOLLOWING THIS STEADY COURSE, WE HAVE BECOME THE LARGEST DISTRIBUTOR OF PACKAGED GASES,

WELDING AND SAFETY PRODUCTS IN THE UNITED STATES.  OUR FOOTPRINT NOW SPANS THE COUNTRY,

MAKING US THE SUPPLIER OF CHOICE FOR CUSTOMERS WITH MULTIPLE LOCATIONS.

YET, OUR TRUE STRENGTH HAS NEVER CHANGED: WE ARE BRANCH-CENTRIC, COMMITTED TO MEETING THE

NEEDS OF CUSTOMERS IN LOCAL MARKETS WHO DEPEND ON US FOR THEIR DELIVERIES OF CYLINDER GASES,

WELDING SUPPLIES AND SAFETY PRODUCTS. 

THIS ANNUAL REPORT RECAPS OUR FINANCIAL RESULTS AND PROVIDES A PICTURE OF THE FRONT-LINE 

PEOPLE AND COMPANY-WIDE STRATEGIES THAT HAVE PROPELLED US TO A LEADERSHIP POSITION IN OUR

INDUSTRY. LEVERAGING OUR PRESENCE, PRODUCTS, AND DISTRIBUTION. SHARING OUR EXPERTISE AND 

PURSUING GROWTH NICHES. THESE ARE THE PLATFORMS THAT ARE ENABLING AIRGAS TO BUILD ITS

STRENGTH, BRANCH BY BRANCH.
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To Our Shareholders, Customers, Associates and Friends,

When I write this message each year, I like to focus on strate-
gy.  After all, the numbers are old and cold by the time this 
letter reaches our shareholders. Yes, I’m proud to report that
we grew sales and profits in a very challenging business 
environment. Total sales in fiscal 2004 were up 6%, to $1.9 
billion. Earnings per share grew 14% to $1.07. 

Yet, the strategies used to achieve these results are what this
message should be about. The challenge each year is to make
this strategic perspective interesting, because our basic strat-
egy has not changed much. Since 1982, we have built this 
business, branch by branch, into the leader of the U.S. pack-
aged gas and welding hardgoods industry. We have done so
by creating an organization with strong local leadership and
national scale.  

Within this basic strategy, though, we have shifted our focus 
several times in response to changing customer needs or mar-
ket conditions. We have done this by looking at ourselves crit-
ically and seeking feedback, especially from our associates
closest to our customers. In my view, these periodic refine-
ments have made all the difference between Airgas and other
companies, with far greater resources, that have sought to
build a national distribution network.

One Strategy, Different Stages

In the 1980s, Airgas aggressively acquired distributors, and we 
followed that in the early 1990s by putting better controls in
place to stabilize our growing company. In the mid-1990s, we
began building a national infrastructure to support continued
growth, including five large distribution centers, our private-
label Radnor® brand, and the addition of our safety products
offering.  

In 1998, we launched Repositioning for Growth to achieve
internal growth to complement our acquisition growth. We
pursued growth in several strategic products – many of which
serve non-cyclical industries – and established a strategic
accounts process to help customers with multiple locations
manage their supply chains. We also took many steps – from
standardizing part numbers to centralizing procurement  – to
become “One Airgas.”

In the last few years, we have focused on adding functional
capabilities to support our branches and improving our opera-
tional efficiencies.

In fiscal 2004, Airgas completed another strategic planning
process. We are refining our strategy once again by refocusing
on our core customers – the small- to medium-sized customers
who are the foundation of our business in every branch, and by
reorganizing our fast-growing medical business to better com-
bine the core competencies of our Puritan Medical business
and regional companies. 

Fiscal 2004:  Resilience of our Results

This past year, we benefited from these earlier strategy refine-
ments. Same-store sales grew 1%, propelled by a strong finish
of 6% in the fourth quarter. Our free cash flow continued to be
strong, at $106 million, which enabled us to reduce our debt
by $60 million, invest $35 million to make five regional acqui-
sitions and pay our shareholders their first dividends. We were
able to wait out the industrial recovery, which began to
emerge in our business late in the year, in large part because
of the strong performance in strategic products, such as med-
ical, bulk, carbon dioxide, safety and continued strong sales to
customers with multiple sites.

• Our medical gas business grew 8% for the third consecutive
year.  We recently integrated our Puritan Medical operations –
acquired in 2000 – into our regional companies to further
strengthen our position in this fast-growing market.

• Our bulk gas business grew 8% as we installed 420 addition-
al bulk tanks and 178 smaller vessels served by 12 new
MicroBulk vehicles. While we are best known for our 5 million
cylinders – we now have more than 6,000 bulk tanks installed
at customer locations. With 1,000 sales people nationwide,
Airgas has the local presence – the “feet on the street” – to
spot opportunities and provide great customer service.

• Sales of our Radnor® private-label line of welding and safety
products grew 10%, propelled by the addition of several inno-
vative products. We also grew our safety product business by
10%, through two regional acquisitions and by selling more
safety products in both our field and telesales channels.  
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Sincerely,

Peter McCausland
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

• Our specialty gas business grew 2%, short of our expecta-
tions but in line with overall market growth. We continue to
make significant investments in our specialty gas infrastructure
and look to improve our results as the economy recovers.

• Sales to customers with multiple customer sites increased to
$255 million as we signed new accounts and renewed others.

• In other areas, CO2 sales grew 25%, and dry ice volumes
were up but revenues dropped 2% due to pricing pressures.

Pursuing Core Customers and Medical Growth

With strong forward momentum in these strategic growth
areas and the opportunity of a rebounding industrial economy,
Airgas associates are looking forward to pursuing our Core
Business Strategy, which focuses on the small- to medium-
sized industrial customers with fewer than 100 employees. 

We recognize that even as Airgas has expanded to become a
$2 billion company, our operating model has evolved in ways
that are not always friendly to our core customers. Yes, our
computerized fast-fill plants can fill cylinders on pallets and
deliver them in measured truckloads, but that isn’t always what
interests smaller customers.

We developed simple initiatives like the Core Stocking pro-
gram, which ensures our stores are never out of the 500 most
common welding and safety products. We rolled out training
to keep our associates up-to-date on the most current welding
processes and equipment. And we have reviewed our staffing
levels and introduced a gain-sharing program that rewards
associates when local operations exceed quarterly goals.

Recently, I attended the grand reopening of our refurbished
branch in Stratford, Connecticut, which we call “Airgas One”
because it was our first store, acquired from Connecticut
Oxygen in 1982. I also met with five associates who have
worked for Airgas since the acquisition. The experience
reminded me that our success has been driven, in large part,
by how well Airgas associates meet our customers’ require-
ments at the local level.

Last year, we also took steps to further strengthen our position
in the fast-growing medical market. In the fourth quarter of fis-
cal 2004, we integrated the medical gas business conducted
by our 12 regional companies with our 35 stand-alone Puritan
Medical branches. 

Each region now operates an Airgas Puritan Medical division,
fully integrated to better serve hospitals, homecare business-
es, doctors, dentists, and other medical businesses. Airgas
Puritan Medical is more than the sum of its parts, allowing us
to leverage all our medical capabilities throughout our regions.

We’re confident that our Core Business and Medical strategies
will yield results in the years ahead, much as our strategic
growth areas are doing now. These are not one-year programs
or one-time events, but a long-term effort to create an envi-
ronment in which Airgas associates can better meet and
exceed the expectations of all our customers, whether they
want one cylinder or a large bulk installation and all the tech-
nology and expertise that comes with it.

Acquisitions: Still a Vital Part of our Strategy

In addition to our Core Business and Medical strategies, we
will continue to seek out acquisitions that support our strate-
gies. Last year, we completed five regional acquisitions, includ-
ing two companies in California: Delta Safety and Littell
Industries, a medical gas and piping business, as well as
Interstate Welding, a leading Wisconsin-based distributor that
significantly enhances our presence in northeastern Wisconsin
and Michigan’s Upper Peninsula.

We also announced what will be our largest acquisition to
date: the U.S. packaged gas business of The BOC Group, Inc.
The transaction, which is expected to close July 30, 2004, will
include more than 120 locations in 21 states, filling in gaps
where Airgas has little or no presence today, especially in the
Midwest, Southeast, Northeast and Hawaii.

A Company of Entrepreneurs

I’m excited about welcoming more than 1,000 BOC associates
into the Airgas fold, and I am confident they will not only enjoy
the Airgas culture, but also will make valuable contributions to
it.  Airgas is a company of entrepreneurs, who are not afraid to
take responsibility for making our businesses and our branch-
es a success.  I’m proud to lead them.

At last year’s Annual Meeting, we marked the retirement of
John Shober, a valued voice on our Board, and at this year’s
meeting, another valued member, Frank Foster, will retire. In
their stead, the Airgas Board has nominated strong independ-
ent successors, like Bill Albertini, who was elected last year,
and Rick Ill, who has been nominated in this year’s proxy state-
ment.  

Forward Momentum

As shareholders, we can be thankful that we have associates
who are passionate about our business, respect their cus-
tomers and fellow associates, and who work in a culture that is
sufficiently flexible to change our strategic focus from time to
time in response to customer needs.

Working within this culture, we have welded together more
than 300 acquisitions, new product lines, and a common infra-
structure to create a strong and stable platform that will 
sustain our growth well into the future.

With the BOC transaction soon to be finalized, we can look 
forward with a sense of optimism to an exciting year ahead.



Each day, Airgas branch 
associates like Tom Ballos 

in Harrisburg, PA, 
meet their customers’ 

needs with a deep 
product inventory and 

in-depth product knowledge.



Through more than 300 acquisitions, Airgas has created the largest 
footprint in the U.S. for distributing gases, welding supplies, safety and 
related products. Today, about 9,000 associates work in about 800 
locations, including some 600 retail stores, 200 cylinder fill plants, 18 
acetylene plants and 51 specialty gas laboratories. These numbers add up 
to give Airgas the presence to serve customers of all sizes, whether they 
need products and services at one location across the street or multiple 
sites across the country.

Our 800,000 customers know that branch managers, associates and 
drivers are there to serve them with a welcoming handshake and a deep 
understanding of their gas, welding and safety needs. We’ve maintained 
this strong local focus, from our first acquisition in 1982 with the “Airgas 
One” branch in Stratford, CT, to more than 120 locations we plan to 
acquire from The BOC Group at the end of July 2004. 

Presence
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Products
Airgas is the leading U.S. distributor of packaged gases. With five million 
cylinders, we can deliver gases, such as nitrogen, oxygen, argon, helium, 
hydrogen, acetylene, and shielding gases, to a small repair shop that rents 
a few cylinders a month or a petrochemical plant that needs dozens of 
cylinders a week. For customers that need higher quantities, we deliver 
gas in liquid dewars, MicroBulk or bulk quantities. Airgas has more than 
6,000 bulk tanks installed at customer sites. In the past year, we’ve added 
a dozen MicroBulk delivery vehicles to serve customers that need the 
convenience of bulk in smaller sizes.

In addition to gases, we provide everything the job requires – welding 
equipment, supplies and safety products – in fact, we are the third-largest 
U.S. distributor of safety products. We offer products from leading brands 
as well as our own Radnor® private-label welding and safety products.  
Our product offering also includes Red-D-Arc Welderentals™, Airgas 
Rutland Tool, as well as specialty and medical gases, liquid carbon 
dioxide, dry ice, and nitrous oxide.



Our principal product is 
packaged gas. 
In 200 plants nationwide, 
associates like  
Bruce Sundberg in 
Cheshire, CT, fill cylinders 
and liquid dewars
for delivery to customers.



This year, Airgas drivers 
like Tom Robinson 

in Stratford, CT, will log 
nearly 60 million miles 

on the front lines of our 
distribution network.
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DistributionDistribution
Ours is a distribution business, with gases, welding and safety supplies as 
our major products. By focusing on distribution, we help customers by 
delivering the right products to the right location at the right time. Our 
2,500 drivers comprise the front-line of our national distribution force. 
Each morning, Airgas route drivers deliver cylinders and hardgoods to 
local customers throughout the U.S. while other drivers shuttle gases to 
our 800 stocking locations. Still other drivers make bulk and MicroBulk 
deliveries to customers’ sites.

Supporting our drivers are associates throughout an integrated dis-
tribution network of branches and retail stores, cylinder fill plants, 
production facilities, specialty gas laboratories, and five regional distribu-
tion centers that ship hardgoods and safety products to Airgas branches 
and end-customers. This common infrastructure supports the distribution 
of products and services through multiple sales channels, including our 
branches and retail stores, Strategic Accounts programs, distributors and
resellers, as well as eBusiness, catalog and telesales channels.



10      Airgas AR/04

Expertise
Airgas associates are committed to being the best they can be and to 
sharing their expertise with our customers. It starts with safety on the 
road and in our plants. Drivers receive safety tips and regulatory updates 
in monthly safety meetings, which help us achieve among the best 
preventable accident frequency rate in the industry. In our plants, safety 
audits and training sessions teach associates how to handle cylinders and 
emergency situations.

Within our network are some of the most knowledgeable, experienced 
people in the industry, who help customers find solutions to their needs. 
Welding process specialists help associates and customers keep up with 
the latest welding processes and equipment. Specialty gas specialists 
hold “How to Buy Gases” seminars for customers to help them select and 
manage gases for laboratory use. Safety products specialists help customers 
select the proper safety wear. And supply chain management specialists 
help customers streamline the purchase and delivery of gases, welding 
supplies and safety products to a single plant or a nationwide network.



Within every regional 
company, risk management 
and safety experts  
like Cindy Grant of Airgas 
Southwest review safety 
procedures with plant
personnel like Kelly Wright 
in Dallas.



Developed by Rob Shock, 
director of specialty 

gas automation, 
AcuGrav™ computerized 

filling systems help 
Airgas provide greater 

accuracy, precision
and consistency for 

specialty gas mixtures.
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Pursuing 
Growth 
Since the late 1990s, Airgas has expanded into higher-growth areas, 
including safety products, bulk, medical and specialty gases. In fiscal 
2004, we began strengthening one of the country’s largest specialty gas 
infrastructures, which includes six national laboratories supporting 45 
regional labs. Nearly half of our labs are certified to the ISO 9001:2000 
quality standard. We also introduced breakthrough technologies like our 
AcuGrav™ computerized filling systems, which provide greater accuracy, 
precision and consistency for specialty gas mixtures.

Medical has been one of the brightest growth niches, achieving 8% 
growth for the past three years. At year-end, we formed Airgas Puritan 
Medical divisions in each regional company to combine the dedicated 
focus and heritage of our Puritan Medical business acquired in 2000 with 
the strength and reach of our Airgas regional companies.

These strategic niches complement our core business and give Airgas a 
broader foundation for future growth. 



Airgas 19%

National Welders JV

Industrial Manufacturing 26%
Repair & Maintenance 23%
Medical 11%
Mining 2%
Petrochemical 4%
Retail 5%
Transportation 2%
Utilities 3%
Wholesale 6%
Analytical 4%
Construction 9%
Food Products 5%

Airgas Sales by Market 

Industrial gases:

• Nearly 5 million cylinders supporting our customers’ 

needs.
• 200 cylinder fill plants nationwide.
• Complete line of bulk gases, storage tanks, related 

equipment and logistics capabilities.
• 18 acetylene manufacturing facilities.
• Gas applications specialists with in-depth experience 

in diverse industries.
• Leading manufacturer of liquid carbon dioxide in the 

Southeast.

Specialty gases:

• Largest U.S. speciality gas network, with 6 national 

specialty gas facilities and 45 regional labs.
• 24 of these specialty gas labs are certified to 

ISO 9001:2000 standards.
• Products include research-grade, ultra-high purity 

and specialty-blend gases.
• Other products include process chemical gases 

and refrigerants.
• Applications in research, biotechnical, calibration 

and emission monitoring.
• Supplier of related specialty gases equipment.

Medical gases:

•  A leading U.S. distributor of medical gases and related 

products through Airgas Puritan Medical divisions in every region.

•  More than 150 medical gas fill plants, including over 35 

medical-only facilities, and distribution capabilities in more than 

600 locations nationwide.

•  Offering a full range of medical gases for respiratory therapy in 

liquid and compressed gas forms, medical gas equipment, 

home respiratory therapy equipment, and related supplies.

•  Serving hospitals, medical institutions, home healthcare 

distributors, doctor/dentist/veterinary offices, original medical 

equipment manufacturers and other medical businesses.

Cylinder and bulk gases include:

Nitrogen Oxygen

Argon Helium

Acetylene Carbon dioxide

Nitrous oxide Hydrogen

Propane SF6

Airgas at a Glance
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The Largest U.S. Distributor of Packaged Gases and Welding 
Hardgoods...

U.S. Packaged Gases & Welding Equipment is an $8 Billion Market. 
Airgas’ Share is 19%

Serving a Broad Customer Base

AIRGAS…
Known Locally Nationwide, with About 800 Locations

 



Dry Ice:

• Leading U.S. producer of dry ice for customers in food 

processing, food service, pharmaceutical and biotech 

industries.
• Largest wholesale distributor of dry ice to grocery and 

other retail outlets nationwide.

Rental of:

Gas cylinders

Cryogenic liquid containers

Bulk tanks

Related regulation and mixing equipment

Welding and positioning equipment

Hardgoods:

• More than $450 million in sales of welding hardgoods,

tools and abrasives.

• Five distribution centers streamline the supply chain to 

Airgas branches and customers.

• Major distributor for leading welding hardgoods brands,

with national buying power.

• Radnor® private-label products in welding hardgoods 

and safety products, generating about $60 million in 

sales annually.

Safety Products:

• One of the largest safety products distributors in the U.S. 

with nearly $300 million in annual sales.

• Major distributor of leading brands of personal 

safety equipment and products, including head protection, 

eyewear, footwear, respiratory protection, environmental 

protection and work safety products.

• Distributing more than 30,000 products, all with same-

day shipping, through catalog, eBusiness and telesales 

channels, as well as through branch and retail sales.

• Safety specialists integrated with our national network to 

meet all our customers’ safety needs.

Outlook® Services:

• Tailored programs to help customers manage supply 

chain for gases, equipment and safety products.

• Substantially reduces total cost of ownership for customers.

• Services include site survey and assessment, transition 

management, total gas management, onsite management 

of gas, equipment and supplies.

…Industrial gases packaged in cylinders 
or delivered in bulk

…Specialty gases prepared precisely
in our national and regional labs

…Medical gases from Airgas Puritan Medical, 
focused solely on healthcare customers

…Hardgoods for everything 
the welding job requires

…Safety products for head-to-toe protection
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Airgas provides...

 



Airgas East 

Airgas Great Lakes 

Airgas Gulf States 

Airgas Intermountain 

Airgas Mid America

Airgas Mid South

Airgas Nor Pac

Airgas North Central

Airgas Northern California & Nevada

Airgas South

Airgas Southwest

Airgas West

Airgas Carbonic/Dry Ice

Airgas Rutland Tool

Airgas Safety Telesales

Red-D-Arc 

Jim Muller

Mike Ziegler

Rusty Coker

Dan Tatro

Bob Hilliard

Mike Duvall

Mark Clemens

Ron Stark

Jim McCarthy

Mike Rohde

Brent Sparks

Max Hooper

Phil Filer

Glen Irving

Don Carlino

Mitch Imielinski 

Airgas Operating Companies and Presidents 

Alfred B. Crichton
Division President, West

B. Shaun Powers
Division President, East

Ted R. Schulte
Division President, Gas Operations

Robert A. Dougherty
Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Kelly P. Justice
Senior Vice President, Airgas Puritan Medical

Michael L. Molinini
Senior Vice President, Hardgoods

Patrick M. Visintainer
Senior Vice President, Sales

Dwight T. Wilson
Senior Vice President, Human Resources

E. Patrick Baker
Vice President

Dean A. Bertolino
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Richard S. Brennan
Vice President

Todd R. Craun
Vice President, Associate General Counsel

James S. Ely
Vice President, Communications

Leslie J. Graff
Vice President, Corporate Development

David E. Levin
Vice President, Safety Products

Robert M. McLaughlin
Vice President, Controller

Deborah A. Reynolds
Vice President, Associate General Counsel

Nevin D. Speicher
Vice President, Retail Operations

Joseph C. Sullivan
Vice President, Treasurer

Thomas S. Thoman
Vice President, Gases

Carey M. Verger
Vice President, Director of Tax

Gordon L. Keen, Jr. / Senior Vice President, Law and Corporate Development

Glenn M. Fischer / President and Chief Operating Officer

Peter McCausland / Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Roger F. Millay / Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Management Committee

Corporate Officers
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F i n a n c i a l  H i g h l i g h t s

Net Sales
(In millions of dollars)

Return on Capital(1)(2)Free Cash Flow(1)

(In millions of dollars)

Diluted Earnings Per Share(1)(2)

excluding certain gains 
and charges
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(1) Definitions of and reconciliations between these financial metrics and their most comparable measure under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) are 
presented on pages 65 and 66.

(2) Certain gains and charges highlighted in this annual report under “Selected Financial Data” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” have been excluded from this
presentation. The excluded items consist of the impact of changes in accounting principles in fiscal years 2002 and 2000; gains and losses on divested operations in fiscal
years 2002 and 2000; restructuring charges and subsequent recoveries in fiscal years 2004, 2003, 2001, and 2000; and litigation charges, an inventory write-down and life
insurance proceeds in fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 2000.

 



S e l e c t e d  F i n a n c i a l  D a t a

18

Ai rga s ,  I n c . 2004

(In thousands, except per share amounts)4

Years Ended March 31, 2004 (1) 2003 (2) 2002 (3) 2001 (4) 2000 (5)

Operating Results:

Net sales $ 1,895,468 $ 1,786,964 $ 1,636,047 $ 1,628,901 $ 1,542,334

Depreciation and amortization (6) 87,956 79,844 72,945 86,754 89,308

Special charges (recoveries), net (776) 2,694 — 3,643 (2,829)

Operating income 167,780 155,882 125,033 107,949 106,731

Interest expense, net 42,357 46,375 47,013 60,207 57,560

Discount on securitization of trade receivables 3,264 3,326 4,846 1,303 —

Other income (expense), net 625 (645) 1,382 242 17,862

Income taxes 47,514 41,199 29,806 20,718 31,551

Cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle — — (59,000) — (590)

Net earnings (loss) 80,192 68,105 (10,415) 28,223 38,283

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 1.10 $ 0.97 $ (0.15) $ 0.43 $ 0.55

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 1.07 $ 0.94 $ (0.15) $ 0.42 $ 0.54

Dividends per common share declared

and paid (7) $ 0.16 $ — $ — $ — $ —

Balance Sheet Data:

Working capital $ 84,361 $ 61,686 $ 82,212 $ 53,690 $ 189,194

Total assets 1,931,079 1,700,243 1,717,057 1,581,290 1,739,331

Current portion of long-term debt 6,140 2,229 2,456 72,945 20,071

Long-term debt 682,698 658,031 764,124 620,664 857,422

Deferred income tax liability, net 257,031 209,140 198,173 161,176 160,808

Other non-current liabilities 20,789 27,243 30,343 22,446 28,998

Stockholders’ equity 691,901 596,933 503,086 496,849 472,507

Capital expenditures 93,749 67,969 58,297 65,910 65,211

(1) As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and in the notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
the results for fiscal 2004 include a fourth quarter special charge recovery of $776 thousand ($480 thousand after tax) reflecting lower estimates of the ultimate cost of 
prior years’ restructuring activities. Fiscal 2004 results also include the fourth quarter consolidation of the National Welders joint venture in accordance with FIN 46R. National
Welders contributed $39.2 million of sales and $3.4 million of operating income in fiscal 2004. As of March 31, 2004, National Welders also contributed current assets of
$30 million, total assets of $140 million, current liabilities of $21 million, and non-current liabilities of $119 million (including a minority interest liability of $36 million).

(2) As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and in the notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
the results for fiscal 2003 include special and other charges of $2.9 million ($2.2 million after tax) primarily consisting of a restructuring charge ($2.7 million) related to the
integration of the business acquired from Air Products and costs related to the consolidation of certain hardgoods procurement functions. 

(3) As discussed in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and in the notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements the results, for fiscal 2002 include: (a) a non-cash after-tax charge of $59 million representing the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle associat-
ed with the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, (b) a litigation settlement charge of $8.5 million ($5.7
million after tax), and (c) a net non-recurring gain of $1.9 million ($120 thousand after tax) related to divestitures and a write-down of a business held for sale to its net 
realizable value.

(4) The results for fiscal 2001 include: (a) net special charges of $3.6 million ($2.3 million after tax), (b) litigation charges, net, of $5.8 million ($3.6 million after tax), and (c)
asset impairments associated with two equity affiliates of $700 thousand after-tax. Working capital in fiscal 2001 decreased compared to fiscal 2000 partially attributable to
a trade receivables securitization program entered into during fiscal 2001 and the classification of $50 million of medium-term notes maturing September 2001 as a compo-
nent of “Current Liabilities.” Cash proceeds of approximately $73.2 million from the securitization program were used to reduce long-term debt.

(5) The results for fiscal 2000 include: (a) special charge recoveries of $2.8 million ($1.7 million after tax), (b) divestiture gains of $17.5 million ($8.6 million after tax), (c) a litiga-
tion charge of $7.5 million ($4.8 million after tax), (d) an inventory write-down of $3.8 million ($2.2 million after tax), and (e) an after-tax charge of $590 thousand 
representing a change in accounting principle.

(6) Fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 exclude the amortization of goodwill in accordance with SFAS 142.

(7) On May 13, 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors declared the first quarterly cash dividend in the Company’s history of $.04 per share, which was paid to stockholders on
June 30, 2003. At the end of each quarter during fiscal 2004, the Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.04 per share. In addition, on May 25,
2004, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.045 per share payable June 30, 2004 to stockholders of record as of June 15, 2004.
Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid will depend upon the Company’s earnings, financial condition, loan covenants, capital requirements and other fac-
tors deemed relevant by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.

Selected financial data for the Company are presented in the table below and

should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the Company’s Consolidated

Financial Statements and notes thereto included herein.
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transaction valued up to $200 million. The transaction is expected

to close July 30, 2004 and includes approximetely 120 locations in

21 states involved in the distribution of packaged industrial, med-

ical and specialty gases, as well as welding hardgoods. In fiscal

2003, the packaged gas business of BOC, subject to the acquisi-

tion, generated approximately $240 million in sales of which

approximately 65% was gas and rent. The acquired operations will

be integrated with the existing business units of the Company’s

Distribution segment.

At December 31, 2003, the Company elected to adopt Financial

Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46R,

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, (“FIN 46R”) with

respect to its joint venture, National Welders Supply Company,

Inc. (“National Welders”) and consolidated this formerly uncon-

solidated affiliate. Since June 1996, the Company has participated

in the joint venture and has used the equity method of accounting

to report the Company’s proportionate share of the joint venture’s

operating results. Consequently, the consolidation of National

Welders had no impact on the net earnings of the Company. In

addition, the consolidation did not change the fact that the liabili-

ties of the joint venture are non-recourse to the Company and the

cash flows, in excess of a management fee paid by National

Welders, are not available to the Company. Through the nine

months ended December 31, 2003, the Company recognized $4.4

million of “Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates” relat-

ed to National Welders. With the prospective adoption permitted

by FIN 46R (prior periods not restated), the fourth fiscal quarter

operating results of the joint venture were reflected broadly across

the income statement with minority interest expense reflecting the

preferred stockholders’ proportionate share of the joint venture’s

operating results. For the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, National

Welders contributed $39.2 million to sales, $3.4 million to operat-

ing income, $291 thousand of minority interest expense and $1.2

million in net earnings.

The Company generated significant cash flow in fiscal 2004, which

enabled the Company to finance acquisitions and capital expendi-

tures and to repay debt. In addition, the Company’s strong cash

flow fundamentals enabled it to pay its first quarterly cash divi-

dend in the Company’s history of $0.04 per share on June 30,

2003. Subsequently, at the end of each quarter during fiscal 2004,

the Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash divi-

dends of $0.04 per share. In addition, on May 25, 2004, the

Company announced that its Board of Directors declared a regu-

lar quarterly cash dividend of $0.045 per share, representing a

13% increase compared to the prior year quarterly dividend. The

dividend is payable June 30, 2004 to stockholders of record as of

June 15, 2004.

Results of Operations: 2004 Compared to 2003

Overview

The Company’s net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004

(“fiscal 2004”) were $1.90 billion compared to $1.79 billion in the

prior year (“fiscal 2003”). Sales growth of $109 million was driv-

en by acquisitions, same-store sales growth and the December 31,

2003 consolidation of National Welders. During fiscal 2004, the

Company completed five acquisitions with combined annual sales

of approximately $59 million. Strategic product sales initiatives

related to medical, bulk and specialty gases, and strategic

accounts, contributed to a 1% increase in total same-store sales.

Sales growth was achieved despite weakness in the manufacturing

and industrial markets during much of fiscal 2004. While same-

store sales were flat through the first nine months of fiscal 2004,

they began rebounding in the fourth quarter led by sales of hard-

goods, which increased significantly (9%) as the industrial mar-

ketplace began to show signs of an economic recovery. Gas and

rent sales also showed improvement (2%) in the fiscal fourth

quarter. Over the past several years, the Company has embarked

on several programs to strengthen its infrastructure in anticipa-

tion of continued growth. As a result, management believes that

the Company is well positioned to take advantage of a rebound-

ing industrial economy.

Fiscal 2004 net earnings were $80.2 million, or $1.07 per diluted

share, compared to $68.1 million, or $0.94 per diluted share, in

fiscal 2003.

As discussed in the “Income Statement Commentary” below,

fiscal 2004 results were affected by the following:

• insurance-related losses of $2.8 million ($1.7 million after

tax), or $0.02 per diluted share, representing the Company’s

self-insurance retention associated with fire-related losses;

• a $1.7 million, or $0.02 per diluted share, non-recurring

insurance gain recognized by National Welders; and

• a special charge recovery of $776 thousand ($480 thousand

after tax), or $0.01 per diluted share, reflecting lower estimates

of the ultimate cost of prior years’ restructuring activities.

Fiscal 2003 results were affected by the following:

• special and other charges totaling $2.9 million ($2.2 million

after-tax), or $0.03 per diluted share, primarily consisting of a

restructuring charge ($2.7 million) related to the integration

of the business acquired from Air Products and Chemicals,

Inc. (“Air Products”) in fiscal 2002 and costs related to the

consolidation of certain hardgoods procurement functions.

On April 2, 2004, the Company announced that it signed a defini-

tive asset purchase agreement to acquire most of the U.S.

packaged gas business of The BOC Group, Inc. (“BOC”) in a

 



Looking forward, fiscal 2005 appears to hold significant opportu-

nities for the Company. The BOC acquisition will be the largest

acquisition in the Company’s history. The process of integrating

BOC’s packaged gas business into the Company’s distribution net-

work will provide both challenges and opportunities. The

Company anticipates that the economic recovery will continue

during fiscal 2005. Given these factors, the Company estimates

that fiscal 2005 net earnings will be approximately $1.21 to $1.27

per diluted share, which includes up to $0.02 per diluted share

accretion from the BOC acquisition. Additionally, in the first

quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company estimates that it will earn

$0.27 to $0.31 per diluted share, which includes modest dilution

from pre-integration expenses associated with the BOC acquisi-

tion. The fiscal 2005 range of estimated net earnings anticipates a

continued supportive sales environment with gas and rent sales

rising throughout the year. Actual fiscal 2005 net earnings may be

impacted by a number of factors including the pace of the eco-

nomic recovery, the sales mix of gas and rent versus hardgoods,

the interest rate environment, and the costs to integrate the BOC

acquisition.

Income Statement Commentary

Net Sales

Net sales increased 6% in fiscal 2004 compared to fiscal 2003 driv-

en primarily by acquisitions, same-store sales growth of 1% and

the consolidation of National Welders. The Company estimates

same-store sales based on a comparison of current period sales to

prior period sales, adjusted for acquisitions and divestitures. The

pro-forma adjustments consist of adding acquired sales to, or sub-

tracting sales of divested operations from, sales reported in the

prior period. These pro-forma adjustments used in calculating the

same-store sales metric are not reflected in the table below. The

intercompany eliminations represent sales from All Other

Operations to the Distribution segment.

(In thousands) 2004 2003 Increase 

Distribution $ 1,702,471 $ 1,642,076 $ 60,395 4%
All Other Operations 235,926 183,849 52,077 28%
Intercompany 

eliminations (42,929) (38,961) (3,968)
$ 1,895,468 $ 1,786,964 $ 108,504 6%

The Distribution segment’s principal products include industrial,

medical and specialty gases; process chemicals; equipment rental

and hardgoods. Industrial, medical and specialty gases and process

chemicals are distributed in cylinders or bulk containers.

Equipment rental fees are generally charged on cylinders, cryo-

genic liquid containers, bulk and micro-bulk tanks, tube trailers

and welding equipment. Hardgoods consist of welding supplies

and equipment, safety products, and industrial tools and supplies.

Distribution segment sales increased $60.4 million (4%) driven by

acquisitions and growth in same-store sales. The Company esti-

mates that business acquisitions contributed $39.3 million to sales

in fiscal 2004. Same-store sales growth of $21.1 million (1%)

resulted from increases in hardgoods sales of $12.9 million (1%)

and gas and rent sales of $8.2 million (1%). Through the first nine

months of fiscal 2004, Distribution same-store sales were negative,

driven by lower sales of hardgoods reflecting weakness in the

industrial and manufacturing sectors of the economy. However,

same-store sales of hardgoods increased significantly (9%) in the

fiscal fourth quarter as the industrial marketplace began to show

signs of an economic recovery. Gas and rent sales also showed

improvement (2%) in the fiscal fourth quarter. Same-store sales of

safety products increased a strong 6% during fiscal 2004 as the

Company continued its cross-selling strategy of marketing safety

products to its broad base of customers. In addition, safety sales

were helped by a new channel migration program that utilizes

telemarketing to sell safety products to several thousand low vol-

ume customers.

The Company has followed a strategy of focusing on opportuni-

ties in niche markets to facilitate sales growth. The strategy focus-

es on products and markets that are expected to grow at a faster

rate than the overall economy. These growth initiatives relate to

sales of strategic products, including medical and specialty gases,

gases sold in bulk and micro-bulk containers, safety products, and

sales to strategic account customers. During fiscal 2004, these sales

initiatives contributed to sales growth of gas and rent, which

helped mitigate weakness in the industrial economy. Medical gas

and rent revenues increased 8% to $146 million versus the prior

year reflecting volume gains. Sales growth of specialty gases fell

short of expectations, driven by pricing pressure and sluggish

demand associated with economic conditions. Bulk gas and rent

revenues grew 8% to $107 million reflecting higher volumes as

well as the promotion of the Company’s micro-bulk program. The

micro-bulk program is designed to service niche customers who

require higher volumes of gases than can be provided efficiently

through the use of gases packaged in cylinders. Sales to strategic

account customers (sales to large customers with multiple loca-

tions) increased 3% to $255 million in fiscal 2004. Rental revenue

was also favorably impacted by a 7% increase in welding equip-

ment rentals and sales associated with the Company’s continued

expansion of its rental welder fleet.
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The All Other Operations segment consists of producers and dis-

tributors of gas products, principally of dry ice, carbon dioxide,

nitrous oxide and specialty gases. The segment also includes the

Company’s National Welders joint venture, which was consolidat-

ed effective December 31, 2003. All Other Operations' sales, net of

intercompany sales eliminations, increased $48.1 million (33%),

principally from the consolidation of National Welders, same-store

sales growth and an acquisition during fiscal 2004. National

Welders contributed sales of $39.2 million in the fourth quarter

and fiscal year. Had National Welders been consolidated for all of

fiscal 2004, it would have contributed sales of $147 million. Same-

store sales growth of 5% was principally the result of higher sales

volumes of liquid carbon dioxide reflecting the additional source

of product from the Hopewell, Virginia plant that began opera-

tions in January 2003. Same-store sales growth associated with liq-

uid carbon dioxide was partially offset by lower sales of dry ice.

Sales of dry ice were negatively impacted during fiscal 2004 by sig-

nificant pricing pressure related to additional competition in the

market. The acquisition of a dry ice business in April 2003 also

contributed sales of $2.2 million in fiscal 2004.

Gross Profits

Gross profits do not reflect depreciation expense and distribution

costs. As disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements, the Company reflects distribution costs as elements of

Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses and recognizes

depreciation on all its property, plant and equipment on the

income statement line item “Depreciation.” Some companies may

report certain or all of these costs as elements of their Cost of

Products Sold. Consequently, gross profits discussed below may

not be comparable to those of other entities.

Gross profits increased 5%, while the gross profit margin

decreased 30 basis points to 52.1% in fiscal 2004 compared to

52.4% in fiscal 2003.

(In thousands) 2004 2003 Increase

Distribution $ 857,031 $ 835,756 $ 21,275 3%
All Other Operations 129,756 100,892 28,864 29%

$ 986,787 $ 936,648 $ 50,139 5%

The Distribution segment’s gross profits increased $21.3 million

(3%) compared to the prior year. Distribution’s gross profit mar-

gin of 50.3% in fiscal 2004 decreased 60 basis points from 50.9%

in fiscal 2003. The lower gross profit margin primarily resulted

from a shift in sales mix away from higher margin gas and rent

sales and towards lower margin sales of hardgoods. Acquisitions of

two distributors of safety products also contributed to the shift in

mix. The Distribution segment’s sales consisted of 51.8% gas and

rent compared to 52.6% in fiscal 2003.
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All Other Operations’ gross profits increased $28.9 million (29%)

compared to the prior year. Higher gross profits primarily reflect

the consolidation of National Welders, higher sales volumes of liq-

uid carbon dioxide sourced from the new Hopewell, Virginia plant

and an acquisition. The consolidation of National Welders con-

tributed gross profits of $22 million. The gross profit margin of

55% was flat compared to 54.9% in the prior year. The fourth

quarter consolidation of National Welders had an insignificant

impact on the gross profit margin. Had National Welders been

consolidated for all of fiscal 2004, the impact on the All Other

Operations segment’s gross profit margin would also not have

been significant.

Operating Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses (“SD&A”) con-

sist of labor and overhead associated with the purchasing, market-

ing and distribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs

associated with a variety of administrative functions such as legal,

treasury, accounting, tax and facility-related expenses. SD&A

expenses increased $33.6 million (5%) compared to the prior year

principally from the consolidation of National Welders, higher

distribution-related expenses, costs contributed by acquired busi-

nesses and fire-related losses. The consolidation of National

Welders contributed $16 million to the increase in SD&A expens-

es. The increase in distribution-related expenses of approximately

$5 million was primarily driven by higher fuel, repair and mainte-

nance costs. Higher fuel costs were directly related to the increase

in oil prices during fiscal 2004. Acquired businesses contributed

approximately $13 million to the increase in SD&A expenses.

During fiscal 2004, the Company sustained fire-related losses at

certain of its plants of $2.8 million, which represented the

Company’s self-insurance retention. The prior year included costs

of $2.7 million associated with the integration of the packaged gas

business acquired from Air Products in February 2002.

Acquisition integration expenses were not significant during fiscal

2004. As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expenses decreased 40

basis points to 38.7% compared to 39.1% in the prior year.

Depreciation expense of $82.6 million in fiscal 2004 increased

$9.1 million (12%) compared to $73.5 million in fiscal 2003. The

increase reflects depreciation on the current and prior year’s capi-

tal investments in revenue producing assets, including the

Hopewell carbon dioxide plant, bulk and micro-bulk tanks and

medical cylinders. The fourth quarter consolidation of National

Welders also contributed $2.6 million to the increase in deprecia-

tion expense.

Amortization expense of $5.4 million in fiscal 2004 decreased $1

million compared to $6.4 million in fiscal 2003. The decrease in

amortization expense was primarily attributable to the expiration

of certain non-compete agreements.

 



and average outstanding debt levels were lower despite the July 1,

2003 consolidation of a grantor trust associated with an operating

lease and the December 31, 2003 consolidation of National

Welders.

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell up to $175 million of qualifying trade

receivables. The amount of outstanding receivables under the

agreement was $162.6 million and $158.9 million at March 31,

2004 and 2003, respectively. Net proceeds from the sale of trade

receivables were used to reduce borrowings under the Company’s

revolving credit facilities. The discount on the securitization of

trade receivables represents the difference between the carrying

value of the receivables and the proceeds from their sale. The

amount of the discount varies on a monthly basis depending on

the amount of receivables sold and market rates.

As discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” the Company

manages its exposure to interest rate risk through participation in

interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect of the interest

rate swap agreements, the Company’s ratio of fixed to variable

interest rates at March 31, 2004 was 57% fixed to 43% variable. A

majority of the Company’s variable rate debt is based on a spread

over the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). Based on the

Company’s outstanding variable rate debt and credit rating at

March 31, 2004, for every 25 basis point increase in LIBOR, the

Company estimates its annual interest expense would increase

approximately $900 thousand.

Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates totaled $5.2 million

in fiscal 2004 compared to $3.8 million in the prior year. The

results of National Welders for the nine months ended December

31, 2003 (earnings of $4.4 million) were reported in the income

statement as equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates.

Effective January 1, 2004, National Welders’ results were reflected

broadly across the income statement. The increase in the equity in

earnings of unconsolidated affiliates compared to the prior year

resulted primarily from a $1.7 million non-recurring life insur-

ance policy gain recognized by National Welders in December

2003. Prior to the date that the Company entered into the joint

venture agreement with National Welders, the founders of

National Welders had obtained life insurance policies on key per-

sonnel in which National Welders was the named beneficiary.
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Special Charges (Recoveries)

In fiscal 2004, a special charge recovery of $776 thousand reflected

lower estimates of the ultimate cost of prior years’ restructuring

charges. The special charge recovery was included in the

Distribution segment and represented a change in estimate related

to facility exit costs.

In fiscal 2003, a special charge of $2.7 million incurred by the

Distribution segment consisted of a restructuring charge related

to the integration of the business acquired from Air Products and

costs related to the consolidation of certain hardgoods procure-

ment functions. The special charge included facility exit costs

associated with the closure of certain facilities and employee sev-

erance. The facilities exited and the affected employees were part

of the Company’s existing operations prior to the acquisition of

the Air Products business.

Operating Income 

Operating income increased 8% in fiscal 2004 compared to fiscal

2003. The operating income margin increased 20 basis points to

8.9% from 8.7% in the prior year.

(In thousands) 2004 2003 Increase

Distribution $ 136,449 $ 130,534 $ 5,915 5%
All Other Operations 31,331 25,348 5,983 24%

$ 167,780 $ 155,882 $ 11,898 8%

The Distribution segment’s operating income margin of 8% in fis-

cal 2004 was consistent with 7.9% in fiscal 2003. The fiscal 2004

operating income margin reflects the lower gross profit margin,

described above, effectively offset by lower operating expenses as a

percentage of sales.

The All Other Operations segment’s operating income margin

decreased 50 basis points to 13.3% compared to 13.8% in fiscal

2003. The decrease in the operating income margin primarily

resulted from higher operating expenses as a percentage of sales

driven by the consolidation of National Welders. National Welders

has a higher cost structure compared to the other businesses

included in the segment. Had National Welders been consolidated

for all of fiscal 2004, the operating income margin would have

been 11.5%.

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of Trade

Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade

receivables totaled $45.6 million representing a decrease of $4.1

million (-8%) compared to the prior fiscal year. The decrease in

interest expense resulted from lower average outstanding debt lev-

els and lower weighted-average interest rates associated with the

Company’s variable rate debt. The Company’s interest expense
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Minority Interest Expense

Minority interest expense of $291 thousand in fiscal 2004 repre-

sents the portion of National Welders’ operating results applicable

to the preferred stockholders of National Welders.

Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 37.2% of pre-tax earnings in fis-

cal 2004 compared to 37.7% in fiscal 2003.

Net Earnings

Net earnings in fiscal 2004 were $80.2 million, or $1.07 per dilut-

ed share, compared to $68.1 million, or $0.94 per diluted share, in

fiscal 2003.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding used in com-

puting earnings per diluted share was 2.4 million shares higher in

fiscal 2004 compared to fiscal 2003. The increase in the weighted

average number of shares outstanding primarily resulted from

stock option exercises and shares purchased by employees under

the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plans. The Company

expects that the weighted average number of shares outstanding

will increase 2% to 3% per year.

Results of Operations: 2003 Compared to 2002

Overview

The Company’s net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003

(“fiscal 2003”) were $1.79 billion compared to $1.64 billion in fis-

cal 2002. Sales growth was driven by the fiscal 2002 fourth quarter

acquisition of the majority of Air Products’ U.S. packaged gas

business. In addition, the Company continued to pursue oppor-

tunistic acquisitions to complement its national distribution net-

work, completing four acquisitions in fiscal 2003. Although there

was significant acquisition-related sales growth, net sales were

adversely affected by the sluggish economic environment. The

weak manufacturing and industrial markets contributed to a

same-store sales decline of 2% compared to the prior year reflect-

ing lower hardgoods sales mitigated by higher gas and rent sales.

Higher gas and rent sales reflect the Company’s focus on strategic

sales initiatives related to medical and bulk gases and strategic

account customers. The Company’s sales initiatives contributed to

an 8% increase in medical gas sales, a 9% increase in bulk gas

delivery sales, and a 7% increase in sales to strategic account cus-

tomers. With a focus on controlling costs and improving opera-

tional effectiveness, the Company also embarked on other

strategic initiatives, including the centralization of certain hard-

goods procurement functions, rollout of an inventory manage-

ment system, and implementation of a sales force effectiveness

program.

Fiscal 2003 net earnings were $68.1 million, or $0.94 per diluted

share, compared to a net loss of $10.4 million, or a loss of $0.15

per diluted share, in fiscal 2002.

As discussed in the “Income Statement Commentary” below,

fiscal 2003 results were affected by the following:

• special and other charges totaling $2.9 million ($2.2 million

after-tax), or $0.03 per diluted share, primarily consisting of a

restructuring charge ($2.7 million) related to the integration of

the business acquired from Air Products and costs related to

the consolidation of certain hardgoods procurement functions.

Fiscal 2002 results were affected by the following:

• a non-cash after-tax charge of $59 million, or $0.84 per diluted

share, representing the cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle associated with the adoption of Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and

Other Intangible Assets,

• a litigation settlement charge of $8.5 million ($5.7 million

after-tax), or $0.08 per diluted share.

During fiscal 2003, the Company successfully integrated the busi-

ness acquired from Air Products in the prior year. In addition,

during fiscal 2003, the Company completed the acquisition of

four complementary packaged gas distributors with combined

annual sales of approximately $33 million. The acquired business-

es further expanded the Company’s broad distribution network

and national market reach.

Strong cash flow fundamentals have been characteristics of the

Company since its inception. The cash flow generated by the

Company, excluding the cash generated from the expanded trade

receivables securitization program that was used to pay down the

Company’s revolving credit facilities, enabled it to repay debt of

$93.5 million in fiscal 2003. Additionally, the Company was able

to reduce its off-balance sheet commitments by $2.5 million in

fiscal 2003. Lower interest rates during fiscal 2003 also reduced

the Company’s debt service requirements and aided in the ability

to repay debt, as well as favorably impacted net earnings during

the year.

Income Statement Commentary
Net Sales

Net sales increased 9% in fiscal 2003 compared to fiscal 2002,

driven primarily by the prior year acquisition of Air Products’

packaged gas business, while same-store sales declined 2%. The

intercompany eliminations represent sales from All Other

Operations to the Distribution segment.

(In thousands) 2003 2002 Increase

Distribution $ 1,642,076 $ 1,494,267 $ 147,809 10%
All Other Operations 183,849 173,594 10,255 6%
Intercompany 

eliminations (38,961) (31,814) (7,147)
$ 1,786,964 $ 1,636,047 $ 150,917 9%

 



All Other Operations’ sales, net of intercompany sales elimina-

tions, increased $3.1 million (2%), principally from net acquisi-

tion and divestiture activity and same-store sales growth. Acquired

sales of high-end specialty gases from the Air Products acquisition

more than offset divested sales from two nitrous oxide plants sold

in the third quarter of fiscal 2002. Same-store sales increased $1.5

million (1%) driven by specialty gas sales and higher volumes of

liquid carbon dioxide associated with the January 2003 comple-

tion of a new carbon dioxide plant in Hopewell, Virginia.

Gross Profits

Gross profits increased 15% and the gross profit margin increased

240 basis points to 52.4% in fiscal 2003 compared to 50% in fiscal

2002.

(In thousands) 2003 2002 Increase

Distribution $ 835,756 $ 724,173 $ 111,583 15%
All Other Operations 100,892 93,121 7,771 8%

$ 936,648 $ 817,294 $ 119,354 15%

Distribution gross profits increased approximately $112 million

(15%) primarily from the Air Products acquisition. The

Distribution segment’s gross profit margin of 50.9% in fiscal 2003

increased 240 basis points from 48.5% in fiscal 2002. The gross

margin improvement resulted from a shift in sales mix towards

higher-margin gas and rent and reduced product discounting

associated with the Company’s hardgoods discount management

program. The shift in sales mix was primarily attributable to the

Air Products acquisition, which had a sales mix of 76% gas and

rent. On a same-store basis, lower volumes of hardgoods also con-

tributed to the shift in sales mix towards gas and rent.

Distribution segment sales consisted of 52.6% gas and rent com-

pared to 47.3% in the prior year.

All Other Operations’ gross profits increased $7.8 million (8%)

driven by lower raw material and production costs of the dry ice

operations, which reduced the cost per ton produced, and net

acquisition and divestiture activity. Gross profits attributable to

specialty gas business acquired from Air Products more than com-

pensated for the fiscal 2002 divestiture of two nitrous oxide

plants. Same-store sales growth of specialty gases also contributed

to the increase in All Other Operations’ gross profits. All Other

Operations’ gross profit margin of 54.9% increased 130 basis

points from 53.6% in the prior year.

Operating Expenses

SD&A expenses increased $78.9 million (13%) compared to fiscal

2002 principally from the addition of the Air Products’ opera-

tions. Although salaries and benefits, fuel and acquisition integra-

tion costs increased in fiscal 2003 compared to fiscal 2002, the

increases were partially mitigated by lower legal expenses and

management’s focus on expense control in other areas. Legal

expense in fiscal 2002 included a charge of $8.5 million associated
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Distribution segment sales increased $148 million (10%) driven

by acquisitions, partially offset by a decline in same-store sales.

The Company estimates that net acquisition and divestiture activ-

ity contributed $181 million to sales in fiscal 2003. The net acqui-

sition and divestiture activity primarily reflects the impact of the

February 28, 2002 acquisition of Air Products. The Air Products’

operations contributed $17.6 million to the Company’s fiscal 2002

net sales. On a same-store basis, the Distribution segment’s sales

decreased $33 million (-2%) reflecting a decline in hardgoods

same-store sales of $42 million (-5%), partially offset by gas and

rent sales growth of $9 million (1%). The decline in hardgoods

same-store sales resulted from lower sales volumes of industrial

tools and welding hardgoods, reflecting the general weakness in

the industrial and manufacturing sectors of the economy.

Although overall safety product sales were flat due to a decline in

branch-based sales, safety product sales through the telesales

channel grew 4%.

Distribution gas and rent same-store sales growth was driven by

sales initiatives related to medical and bulk gases, as well as strate-

gic accounts. The growth achieved through these initiatives was

partially offset by volume declines in industrial gases reflecting the

general weakness in the industrial and manufacturing sectors of

the economy. Fiscal 2003 medical gas and rent revenues grew 8%

to $135 million versus the prior year reflecting volume gains. Bulk

gas and rent revenues increased to approximately $100 million,

representing a 9% increase over the prior year with pricing

remaining relatively stable. On a same-store basis, sales to strategic

account customers (sales to large customers with multiple loca-

tions) grew 7% to $247 million in fiscal 2003 reflecting the

Company’s success in leveraging its broad distribution network to

service large customers. Although several major strategic account

customers purchased lower volumes of products, the addition of

nearly 80 new strategic account customers during fiscal 2003 gen-

erated sales growth. Rental revenue was also favorably impacted

by an 8% increase in welding equipment rentals from the

Company’s expansion of its rental welder fleet. The Company has

followed a strategy of focusing on strategic sales initiatives to

drive sales growth and market penetration in the industries that it

serves. The strategic sales initiatives are designed to develop niches

in products and services that are expected to grow at a faster rate

than the overall economy and to position the Company for

growth into the future.

 



The Distribution segment’s operating income margin of 7.9% in

fiscal 2003 increased 100 basis points compared to 6.9% in fiscal

2002. The operating income margin increase reflects the higher

gross profit margin, described above, partially offset by the special

charge noted above and an increase in operating expenses as a

percentage of sales.

All Other Operations’ operating income margin increased 140

basis points to 13.8% compared to 12.4% in fiscal 2002. The

improved operating income margin reflects lower raw material

and production costs of the Company’s dry ice operations, higher

gross profits from higher specialty gas sales leveraging fixed man-

ufacturing costs, and a focus on cost control by management.

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of Trade

Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade

receivables totaled $49.7 million representing a decrease of $2.2

million (-4%) compared to the prior fiscal year. The decrease in

interest expense resulted from lower weighted-average interest

rates associated with the Company’s variable rate debt, partially

offset by higher average debt levels. Higher average debt levels

resulted from indebtedness associated with acquisition activity,

principally the Air Products acquisition.

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell up to $175 million of qualifying trade

receivables. The amount of outstanding receivables under the

agreement was $158.9 million and $134 million at March 31, 2003

and March 31, 2002, respectively. Net proceeds from the sale of

trade receivables were used to reduce borrowings under the

Company’s revolving credit facilities. The discount on the securiti-

zation of trade receivables represents the difference between the

carrying value of the receivables and the proceeds from their sale.

The amount of the discount varies on a monthly basis depending

on the amount of receivables sold and market rates.

As discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” the Company

manages its exposure to interest rate risk through participation 

in interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect of the inter-

est rate swap agreements, the Company’s ratio of fixed to variable

interest rates at March 31, 2003 was 41% fixed to 59% variable.
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with the settlement of litigation brought by a competitor. There

were no similar charges in fiscal 2003. As a percentage of net sales,

SD&A expenses increased 120 basis points to 39.1% compared to

37.9% in the prior year. The increase in operating expenses as a

percentage of net sales reflects the addition of the Air Products

business, a majority of which is comprised of the distribution of

packaged gases. Packaged gas distribution typically carries higher

operating expenses than the hardgoods portion of the business

and correspondingly higher gross profit margins.

Depreciation expense of $73.5 million in fiscal 2003 increased

$8.7 million (13%) compared to $64.8 million in fiscal 2002. The

increase was primarily due to depreciation on the addition of the

fixed assets from the Air Products acquisition.

Amortization expense of $6.4 million in fiscal 2003 decreased $1.8

million compared to $8.2 million in fiscal 2002. The decrease in

amortization expense was primarily attributable to the expiration

of certain non-compete agreements.

Special Charges

A special charge of $2.7 million incurred by the Distribution seg-

ment in fiscal 2003 consisted of a restructuring charge related to the

integration of the business acquired from Air Products and costs

related to the consolidation of certain hardgoods procurement

functions. The special charge included facility exit costs associated

with the closure of certain facilities and employee severance. The

facilities exited and the affected employees were part of the

Company’s existing operations prior to the acquisition of the Air

Products business.

Operating Income 

Operating income increased 25% in fiscal 2003 compared to 

fiscal 2002.

(In thousands) 2003 2002 Increase

Distribution $ 130,534 $ 103,430 $ 27,104 26%
All Other Operations 25,348 21,603 3,745 17%

$ 155,882 $ 125,033 $ 30,849 25%

 



capital provided cash of $12.9 million in 2004 versus a use of cash

of $11.2 million in 2003. Net earnings adjusted for non-cash items

provided cash of $192.4 million versus $180.7 million in fiscal

2003, adjusted for the fiscal 2003 deferred tax reclassification.

Fiscal 2004 cash from operations also reflects $9.8 million associ-

ated with the fourth quarter operating results of National Welders.

The cash flows of National Welders, in excess of a management fee

paid by National Welders to the Company, are not available to the

Company. Prior to the fourth quarter consolidation of National

Welders, the management fee paid by National Welders to the

Company was reflected as an investing activity as fees from

unconsolidated affiliates. In fiscal 2004, the trade receivables secu-

ritization program was a lower source of cash by $21.2 million

compared to fiscal 2003. In fiscal 2003, the addition of trade

receivables associated with the Air Products acquisition in

February 2002 contributed to an increase in receivables sold under

the securitization program. Cash provided by operating activities

in fiscal 2004 were primarily used to fund capital expenditures

and acquisitions as well as for the repayment of debt.

Cash used in investing activities totaled $122.5 million and prima-

rily consisted of capital expenditures and acquisitions. Capital

expenditures of $93.7 million, including $2.2 million associated

with National Welders, were $25.8 million higher than fiscal 2003

principally due to spending for cylinders, bulk and micro-bulk

tanks, two fill plant upgrades and the purchase of a corporate

plane. Cylinder and bulk tank purchases were driven by continued

growth in medical and bulk gas sales. The Company estimates fis-

cal 2005 capital expenditures will be in the range of $115 million

to $130 million. The higher level of capital spending anticipated

in fiscal 2005 is driven by a real estate and tube trailer lease buy-

out program and expansion of the Company’s medical product

distribution infrastructure. The acquisition of five businesses dur-

ing fiscal 2004 also used cash of $34.9 million.

Financing activities used cash of $86.6 million primarily for the

net repayment of debt of $70.7 million, lower cash overdrafts of

$14.2 million and dividends paid to stockholders of $11.8 million.

National Welders’ repayment of $7.8 million of debt in the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2004 contributed to the cash used in financing

activities. The cash overdraft represents the change in the balance

of outstanding checks. Financing activities also included proceeds

of $13.1 million received from the exercise of stock options.

Cash on hand at the end of each fiscal year is zero. On a daily

basis, depository accounts are swept of all available funds. The

funds are deposited into a concentration account through which

all cash on hand is used to repay debt under the Company’s

revolving credit facilities.
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Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 37.7% of pre-tax earnings in fis-

cal 2003 compared to 38% in fiscal 2002.

Pursuant to an accelerated depreciation provision of a fiscal 2002

change in the tax law, the Company anticipated receiving a tax

refund of approximately $19 million during fiscal 2003 related to

the assets acquired in the Air Products acquisition. After further

review, it was concluded that the Company would not be eligible

for the refund in fiscal 2003, but instead would receive the cash

benefit over the next four years. As a result, an adjustment was

made in the first quarter of fiscal 2003 that resulted in approxi-

mately a $19 million reclassification between current and deferred

income taxes. The adjustment did not impact net earnings or

operating cash flows in either fiscal 2003 or fiscal 2002.

Earnings before the Cumulative Effect of a Change in

Accounting Principle

Earnings before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting

principle for fiscal 2003 were $68.1 million, or $0.94 per diluted

share, compared to $48.6 million, or $0.69 per diluted share, in 

fiscal 2002.

Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle 

In connection with the adoption of SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets, on April 1, 2001, the Company performed an

evaluation of goodwill, which indicated that goodwill of one

reporting unit, its tool business, was impaired. Fiscal 2002 included

a $59 million, or $0.84 per diluted share, non-cash charge as the

cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for the write-

down of goodwill to its fair value. The impaired goodwill was not

deductible for taxes, and consequently, no tax benefit was recorded

in relation to the charge.

Net Earnings (Loss)

Net earnings for fiscal 2003 were $68.1 million, or $0.94 per dilut-

ed share, compared to a net loss in fiscal 2002 of $10.4 million, or

a loss of $0.15 per diluted share.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Fiscal 2004 Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $209.1 million in

fiscal 2004 compared to $194.4 million in fiscal 2003. The increase

in fiscal 2004 operating cash flows principally resulted from

improvements in cash provided by working capital, higher net

earnings and the consolidation of National Welders, partially off-

set by a lower source of cash from the trade receivables securitiza-

tion program. In fiscal 2003, deferred taxes and the change in

other current assets reflect an equal and opposite impact of the

reversal of a $19 million tax refund related to a revised interpreta-

tion of a change in the tax law. Comparing the fiscal 2004 changes

in working capital to the fiscal 2003 changes in working capital

adjusted for the non-cash deferred tax reclassification, working
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Revolving Credit Facilities

The Company has unsecured revolving credit facilities with a syn-

dicate of lenders totaling $367.5 million and $50 million

Canadian (U.S. $38.2 million) under a credit agreement with a

maturity date of July 30, 2006. At March 31, 2004, the Company

had borrowings under the credit agreement of approximately $8

million and $25 million Canadian (U.S. $19 million). The

Company also had commitments under letters of credit supported

by the credit agreement of approximately $33 million at March

31, 2004. The credit agreement contains covenants that include

the maintenance of certain leverage ratios, a fixed charge ratio,

and potential restrictions on certain additional borrowing, the

amount of dividends declared and paid, and the repurchase of

common stock. Based on restrictions related to certain leverage

ratios, the Company had additional borrowing capacity under the

revolving credit facilities of approximately $225 million at March

31, 2004. The variable interest rates of the U.S. and Canadian

revolving credit facilities are based on LIBOR and Canadian

Bankers’ Acceptance Rates, respectively. At March 31, 2004, the

effective interest rates on borrowings under the revolving credit

facilities were 3.13% on U.S. borrowings and 4.44% on Canadian

borrowings.

Borrowings under the revolving credit facilities are guaranteed by

certain of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries and Canadian

borrowings are guaranteed by Canadian subsidiaries. The

Company pledged 100% of the stock of its domestic guarantor

subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of its foreign guarantor sub-

sidiaries for the benefit of the syndicate of lenders. If the

Company’s credit rating is reduced, the Company will be required

to grant a security interest in substantially all of the tangible and

intangible assets of the Company for the benefit of the syndicate

of lenders.

In May 2003, the Company obtained an amendment to its credit

agreement that allowed for the issuance of up to an additional

$200 million of senior public debt and for the expansion of its

senior credit facilities by up to $150 million (see Senior

Subordinated Notes below). Subject to existing financial covenants,

the amendment also provided the Company with additional flexi-

bility to pay dividends, repurchase Airgas common stock and

invest in acquisitions.

In anticipation of the acquisition of assets from BOC, the

Company obtained an amendment to its credit agreement in

February 2004 that, among other things, permits the Company to

invest up to $275 million in acquisitions during fiscal 2005.

The Company will continue to look for appropriate acquisitions

to complement its existing businesses and improve its geographic

coverage. Capital expenditures, current debt maturities and any

future acquisitions will be funded through the use of cash flow

from operations, revolving credit facilities, and other financing

alternatives. The Company believes that its sources of financing

are adequate for its anticipated needs and that it could arrange

additional sources of financing for unanticipated requirements.

The cost and terms of any future financing arrangement depend

on the market conditions and the Company’s financial position at

that time.

Dividends

On May 13, 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors declared the

first quarterly cash dividend in the Company’s history of $0.04

per share, which was paid to stockholders on June 30, 2003.

Subsequently, at the end of each quarter during fiscal 2004, the

Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of

$0.04 per share. In addition, on May 25, 2004, the Company

announced that its Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly

cash dividend of $0.045 per share, representing a 13% increase

compared to the prior year quarterly dividend. The dividend is

payable June 30, 2004 to stockholders of record as of June 15,

2004. Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid

will depend upon the Company’s earnings, financial condition,

loan covenants, capital requirements and other factors deemed

relevant by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.

Financial Instruments

The Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31, 2004

includes the financial obligations of the National Welders joint

venture in accordance with the requirements of FIN 46. National

Welders’ financial debt instruments are non-recourse to the

Company, meaning that the creditors of National Welders do not

have a claim on the assets of Airgas, Inc. in settlement of the joint

venture’s debt obligations. The financial instruments of National

Welders are discussed separately under the heading “Financial

Instruments of the National Welders Joint Venture.”
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Term Loan

At March 31, 2004, the Company had an outstanding term loan

with a principal balance of $70 million bearing an effective inter-

est rate of 3.11%. The term loan is due in quarterly installments

with a final payment due July 30, 2006. The term loan is unse-

cured and bears a variable interest rate based on LIBOR plus a

spread related to the Company’s credit rating. Principal payments

on the term loan are classified as “Long-term Debt” in the

Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets based on the Company’s

ability and intention to refinance the payments with borrowings

under its long-term revolving credit facilities.

Medium-Term Notes

At March 31, 2004, the Company had $100 million of unsecured

medium-term notes due September 2006 bearing interest at a

fixed rate of 7.75%. The medium-term notes are guaranteed by

each of the domestic guarantors under the revolving credit 

facilities.

Acquisition and Other Notes

The Company’s long-term debt also included acquisition and

other notes principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of

businesses acquired and are repayable in periodic installments. At

March 31, 2004, acquisition and other notes totaled approximately

$8.5 million with interest rates ranging from 4% to 9%.

Senior Subordinated Notes

In March 2004, the Company issued $150 million of senior subor-

dinated notes (the “2004 Notes”) with a maturity date of July 15,

2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 6.25%,

payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 of each year.

Proceeds from the issuance of the 2004 Notes were used to redeem

$75 million of medium-term notes due March 2004 and to pay

down borrowings on the Company’s U.S. revolving credit facility.

The 2004 Notes were sold in accordance with the provisions of

Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”).

During fiscal 2005, the Company will exchange the 2004 Notes for

substantially similar notes registered with the Securities and

Exchange Commission in accordance with the Securities Act.

In addition to the 2004 Notes, at March 31, 2004, the Company

had $225 million of senior subordinated notes (the “2001 Notes”)

outstanding with a maturity date of October 1, 2011. The 2001

Notes bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 9.125%, payable semi-

annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year.

The 2004 Notes and 2001 Notes contain covenants that could

restrict the payment of dividends, the repurchase of common

stock, the issuance of preferred stock, and the incurrence of addi-

tional indebtedness and liens. The 2004 Notes and 2001 Notes are

guaranteed on a subordinated basis by each of the domestic guar-

antors under the revolving credit facilities.

Financial Instruments of the National Welders Joint Venture

In July 2002, National Welders entered into a credit agreement to

provide for available credit up to $100 million secured by certain

assets of National Welders. The Credit Agreement provides for a

Term Loan A of $26.2 million, a Term Loan B of $21 million, a

Term Loan C of $8.8 million, and a revolving credit line of $44

million. Term Loan A is repayable in monthly amounts of $254

thousand through maturity in June 2007. Term Loan B matures in

July 2006. The revolving credit line matures in June 2006. Interest

rates on the Credit Agreement are variable and range from LIBOR

plus 150 to 225 basis points based on National Welders’ leverage

ratio. The Credit Agreement contains certain covenants which,

among other things, limit the ability of National Welders to incur

and guarantee new indebtedness, subject National Welders to

minimum net worth requirements, and limit its capital expendi-

tures, ownership changes, merger and acquisition activity, and the

payment of dividends. In addition, the payment of dividends on

National Welders’ common stock is further limited by the joint

venture agreement. The payment of dividends on the common

stock is subordinate to the payment of the 5% dividend on the

preferred stock. Additionally, the common stock dividends must

be declared by a vote of the joint venture’s board of directors.

At March 31, 2004, National Welders had borrowings under its

revolving credit line of $5.5 million, under Term Loan A of $21.1

million and under Term Loan B of $21 million. There were no

amounts borrowed or outstanding under Term Loan C at March

31, 2004. At March 31, 2004, the effective interest rate for the debt

instruments covered under the Credit Agreement was 3.09%.

Based on restrictions related to certain leverage ratios, National

Welders had additional borrowing capacity under its Credit

Agreement of $47.3 million at March 31, 2004. National Welders

also had a note payable to a bank of $5.5 million that is secured

by a production facility and bears a fixed interest rate of 7%.

National Welders’ long-term debt also included acquisition and

other notes totaling $652 thousand.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued
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Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Company manages its exposure to changes in market interest

rates. At March 31, 2004, the Company was party to a total of

eight interest rate swap agreements. The swap agreements are with

major financial institutions and aggregate $215 million in notion-

al principal amount at March 31, 2004. Four swap agreements

with approximately $90 million in notional principal amount

require the Company to make fixed interest payments based on an

average effective rate of 4.55% and receive variable interest pay-

ments from its counterparties based on three-month LIBOR

(average rate of 1.12% at March 31, 2004). The remaining terms

of these swap agreements range from between four and nineteen

months. Four swap agreements with approximately $125 million

in notional principal amount require the Company to make vari-

able interest payments based on six-month LIBOR (average effec-

tive rate of 3.16% at March 31, 2004) and receive fixed interest

payments from its counterparties based on an average effective

rate of 8.36% at March 31, 2004. The remaining terms of these

swap agreements range from between two and seven years. The

Company monitors its positions and the credit ratings of its coun-

terparties, and does not anticipate non-performance by the coun-

terparties.

National Welders participates in one interest rate swap agreement

with a notional principal amount of $21 million on which it

makes interest payments based on a fixed rate of 6.72% and

receives variable interest payments from its counterparty based on

a floating 30-day LIBOR rate of 1.09% at March 31, 2004.

After considering the effect of interest rate swap agreements on

the Company’s debt and off-balance sheet trade receivables securi-

tization agreement, the Company’s ratio of fixed to variable inter-

est rates was 57% fixed to 43% variable at March 31, 2004. The

ratio includes the effect of the fixed to variable ratio of National

Welders’ debt. A majority of the Company’s variable rate debt is

based on a spread over LIBOR. Based on the Company’s outstand-

ing variable rate debt and credit rating at March 31, 2004, for

every 25 basis point increase in LIBOR, the Company estimates 

its annual interest expense would increase approximately 

$900 thousand.

Trade Receivables Securitization 

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell up to $175 million of qualifying trade

receivables. The agreement expires in December 2005, but may be

renewed subject to renewal provisions contained in the agree-

ment. During fiscal 2004, the Company sold, net of its retained

interest, $1,696 million of trade receivables and remitted to bank

conduits, pursuant to a servicing agreement, $1,692 million in

collections on those receivables. The net proceeds were used to

reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facilities.

The amount of outstanding receivables under the agreement was

$162.6 million at March 31, 2004 and $158.9 million at 

March 31, 2003.

The transaction has been accounted for as a sale under the provi-

sions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140,

Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and

Extinguishments of Liabilities. Under the securitization agree-

ment, eligible trade receivables are sold to bank conduits through

a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity, which is consolidated

for financial reporting purposes. The difference between the pro-

ceeds from the sale and the carrying value of the receivables is rec-

ognized as “Discount on securitization of trade receivables” in the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings and varies on

a monthly basis depending on the amount of receivables sold and

market rates. The Company retains a subordinated interest in the

receivables sold, which is recorded at the receivables’ previous car-

rying value. A subordinated retained interest of approximately $44

million and $45 million is included in “Trade receivables” in the

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2004 and

2003, respectively. The Company’s retained interest is generally

collected within 60 days. On a monthly basis, management meas-

ures the fair value of the retained interest at management’s best

estimate of the undiscounted expected future cash collections on

the transferred receivables. Changes in the fair value are recog-

nized as bad debt expense. Actual cash collections may differ from

these estimates and would directly affect the fair value of the

retained interest. In accordance with a servicing agreement, the

Company continues to service, administer and collect the trade

receivables on behalf of the bank conduits. The servicing fees

charged to the bank conduits approximate the costs of collections.

Debt of Grantor Trust

Since October 1999, the Company has leased certain real estate

and equipment from a grantor trust (the “Trust”) under a sale-

leaseback arrangement. The Trust incurred debt to purchase the

properties and equipment from the Company. The Company, in

turn, paid rent to the Trust. The rental payments to the Trust were

based on LIBOR plus an applicable margin and matched the debt

service requirements for the debt held by the Trust. The Trust was

not consolidated for financial reporting purposes and the non-

cancelable lease obligation of the real estate and equipment leases

totaled approximately $41 million at March 31, 2003.
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Effective July 1, 2003, the Company elected to early adopt FIN 46

with respect to the Trust (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements). The Company determined the Trust to be a variable

interest entity as defined by FIN 46. In addition, the Company was

determined to be the primary beneficiary of the sale-leaseback

arrangement. FIN 46 required the Company to consolidate the

Trust for financial reporting purposes. Upon consolidation, the

Company recorded on its balance sheet approximately $29 million

of real estate and equipment and debt of $42 million, while elimi-

nating a deferred gain of $13 million. The consolidation of the

Trust resulted in the Company recognizing $1 million in interest

expense and $1 million in depreciation expense in the nine

months ended March 31, 2004, which had previously been recog-

nized as rent expense to the Trust. The debt of the grantor trust

matures in October 2004 and is classified as long-term based

upon the Company’s ability and intention to refinance it with

borrowings under its long-term credit facilities.

Employee Benefits Trust

Since March 1999, the Company has maintained a trust (the

“Employee Benefits Trust”) to fund certain future obligations of

the Company’s employee benefit and compensation plans. From

inception through 2001, the Company, pursuant to a Common

Stock Purchase Agreement, sold approximately 7 million shares of

common stock, previously held as treasury stock, to the Employee

Benefits Trust. The Company holds promissory notes from the

Employee Benefits Trust in the amount of common stock pur-

chased by the trust. Shares held by the Employee Benefits Trust

serve as collateral for the promissory notes and are available to

fund certain employee benefit plan obligations as the promissory

notes are repaid. The shares held by the Employee Benefits Trust

are not considered outstanding for earnings per share purposes

until they are released from serving as collateral for the promis-

sory notes. Approximately 1.2 million and 900 thousand shares

were issued from the Employee Benefits Trust for employee bene-

fit programs during fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of

March 31, 2004, the Employee Benefits Trust held approximately

2.2 million shares of Company common stock. An independent

third-party financial institution serves as the Trustee. The Trustee

votes or tenders shares held by the Employee Benefits Trust in

accordance with instructions received from the participants in the

employee benefit and compensation plans funded by the

Employee Benefits Trust.

Inflation

While the U.S. inflation rate has been relatively modest for several

years, rising costs continue to affect the Company’s business.

The Company strives to minimize the effects of inflation through

cost containment and price increases under highly competitive

conditions.

Other
Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States requires management to make judgments, assump-

tions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the

Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Note

1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the signifi-

cant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of

the Consolidated Financial Statements. Estimates are used for, but

not limited to, determining the net carrying value of trade receiv-

ables, inventories, goodwill and business insurance reserves.

Actual results could differ from these estimates. The following

critical accounting policies are impacted significantly by judg-

ments, assumptions and estimates used in the preparation of the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Trade Receivables

The Company must make estimates of the collectability of its

trade receivables. Management has established an allowance for

doubtful accounts to adjust the carrying value of trade receivables

to fair value based on an estimate of the amount of trade receiv-

ables that are uncollectible. The allowance for doubtful accounts is

determined based on historical experience, economic trends,

known bankruptcies and problem accounts. Management believes

that the allowances for doubtful accounts as of March 31, 2004

and 2003 are adequate.

 



31

A i rga s ,  I n c . 2004

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Inventories

The Company’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost or mar-

ket. The Company writes down its inventory for estimated obso-

lescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference

between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value

based upon its physical condition as well as assumptions about

future demand and market conditions. If actual demand or mar-

ket conditions in the future are less favorable than those estimat-

ed, additional inventory write-downs may be required.

Goodwill

The Company accounts for goodwill in accordance with SFAS 142,

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Under SFAS 142, goodwill is

not amortized, but is instead tested for impairment at least annu-

ally. The Company has elected to perform its annual tests for 

indications of goodwill impairment as of October 31 of each year.

The annual impairment test used by the Company consists of a

discounted cash flow analysis. The discounted cash flow analysis

requires estimates, assumptions and judgments that could be

materially different if different estimates, assumptions and judg-

ments were used.

Business Insurance Reserves

The Company has insurance programs to cover workers’ compen-

sation, business automobile, general and product liability claims.

The insurance programs have self-insured retention of $500 thou-

sand per occurrence and an annual aggregate limit of $1.7 million

of claims in excess of $500 thousand. The Company accrues esti-

mated losses using actuarial models and assumptions based on the

Company’s historical loss experience. National Welders is also 

self-insured for workers’ compensation claims. Workers’ compen-

sation claims are self-insured up to $250 thousand per person

annually with an aggregate liability of $575 thousand. Provisions

for expected future claim payments are accrued based on 

estimates of the aggregate liability for claims incurred plus an esti-

mate for incurred but not reported claims using historical experi-

ence. Although management believes that the insurance reserves

are adequate, the reserve estimates are based on historical experi-

ence, which may not be indicative of current and future losses.

In addition, the actuarial calculations used to estimate insurance

reserves are based on numerous assumptions, some of which are

subjective. Both the Company and National Welders will adjust

their insurance reserves, if necessary, in the event that future loss

experience differs from historical loss patterns.
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(1) Aggregate long-term debt instruments are reflected in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of March 31, 2004. Long-term debt includes capital lease obligations,
which were not material and, therefore, did not warrant separate disclosure. See
Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding
long-term debt instruments.

(2) The Company’s operating leases include approximately $55 million in fleet vehi-
cles under long-term operating leases. The Company guarantees a residual value
of $13.8 million related to its leased vehicles. 

(3) The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two commercial
banks to sell up to $175 million of qualifying trade receivables. The agreement
expires in December 2005, but the term is subject to renewal provisions con-
tained in the agreement. Under the securitization agreement, on a monthly basis,
eligible trade receivables are sold to two commercial banks through a bankrupt-
cy-remote special purpose entity. Proceeds received from the sale of receivables
were used by the Company to reduce its borrowings on its revolving credit facili-
ties. The securitization agreement is a form of off-balance sheet financing. Also
see Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

(4) Letters of credit are guarentees of payment to third parties. The Company’s let-
ters of credit principally back obligations associated with the Company’s self-
insured retention on workers’ compensation, automobile and general liability
claims and acquisition notes. The letters of credit are supported by the
Company’s revolving credit facility.

(5) In connection with the Air Products acquisition, the Company entered into a 15-
year take-or-pay supply agreement, expiring September 1, 2017, under which Air
Products will supply at least 35% of the Company’s bulk liquid nitrogen, oxygen
and argon requirements, exclusive of the volumes purchased under the new BOC
supply agreement noted below. Additionally, the Company has commitments to
purchase helium under the terms of the supply agreement. Based on the volume
of fiscal 2004 purchases, the Air Products supply agreement represents approxi-
mately $42 million in annual liquid bulk gas purchases. The purchase commit-
ments for future periods contained in the table above reflect estimates based on
fiscal 2004 purchases. 

In December 2002, the Company entered into a 3-year take-or-pay supply agree-
ment with BOC to purchase liquid nitrogen, oxygen and argon. Under the BOC
supply agreement, BOC reserves specified production volumes at certain plants
and the Company has agreed to purchase at least 75% of those volumes.

Purchases under the existing BOC supply agreement are anticipated to be approx-
imately $10 million annually. The BOC supply agreement will be replaced with a
new BOC supply agreement upon closing of the acquisition of the BOC packaged
gas business.

Both the Air Products and BOC supply agreements contain market pricing subject
to certain economic indices and market analysis. The Company believes the mini-
mum product purchases under the agreements are well within the Company’s
normal product purchases. Actual purchases in future periods under the supply
agreements could differ materially from those presented in the table due to fluc-
tuations in demand requirements related to varying sales levels as well as
changes in economic conditions. 

(6) The Company is a party to long-term take-or-pay supply agreements for the pur-
chase of liquid carbon dioxide. The aggregate obligations under the supply agree-
ments represent approximately 20% of the Company’s annual carbon dioxide
requirements. The purchase commitments for future periods contained in the
table above reflect estimates based on fiscal 2004 purchases. The Company
believes the minimum product purchases under the Agreements are within the
Company’s normal product purchases. Actual purchases in future periods under
the carbon dioxide supply agreements could differ materially from those present-
ed in the table due to fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying
sales levels as well as changes in economic conditions. Certain of the liquid car-
bon dioxide supply agreements contain market pricing subject to certain econom-
ic indices.

(7) Other purchase commitments primarily include property, plant and equipment
expenditures.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The following table presents the Company’s contractual obligations and off-balance sheet arrangements as of March 31, 2004:

(In thousands) Payments Due by Period

Contractual and Off-Balance Sheet Obligations Total Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 3 to 5 years More than 5 years

Obligations reflected on the 
March 31, 2004 Balance Sheet: 

Long-term debt (1) $ 688,838 $ 6,140 $ 288,106 $ 12,157 $ 382,435

Off-balance sheet obligations as of 

March 31, 2004:

Operating leases (2) 134,389 39,329 55,874 28,194 10,992

Trade receivables securitization (3) 162,600 — 162,600 — —

Letters of credit (4) 32,598 32,598 — — —

Purchase obligations:

Liquid bulk gas supply agreements (5) 539,000 52,000 91,500 84,000 311,500

Liquid carbon dioxide supply agreements (6) 124,470 12,401 18,548 11,826 81,695

Other purchase commitments (7) 5,104 4,160 683 261 —

Total $ 1,686,999 $ 146,628 $ 617,311 $ 136,438 $ 786,622
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New Accounting Pronouncements

There were no new accounting pronouncements that have been

issued and not adopted as of the date of this Annual Report.

Forward-looking Statements

This report contains statements that are forward looking within

the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of

1995. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements

regarding: management’s belief that the Company is well posi-

tioned to take advantage of a rebounding industrial economy; the

closing of the BOC acquisition on July 30, 2004; the process of

integrating the BOC acquisition providing both challenges and

opportunities; the components of the BOC business and the rev-

enues to be acquired; the Company’s belief that the economic

recovery will continue during fiscal 2005; the Company’s estimate

of fiscal 2005 net earnings of $1.21 to $1.27 per diluted share,

including $0.02 per diluted share of accretion from the BOC

acquisition; the Company’s estimate that net earnings in the fiscal

2005 first quarter will be $0.27 to $0.31 per diluted share; the suc-

cess of strategic sales initiatives as platforms for sales growth and

market penetration in the industries served by the Company; the

ability to grow sales through the strategy of focusing on opportu-

nities in niche markets, including the Core Business and Medical

strategies; the success of focusing on products and markets that

will grow at a faster rate than the overall economy; the Company’s

belief that the minimum product purchases under its liquid bulk

gas and carbon dioxide supply agreements are well within the

Company’s normal product purchases; the Company’s estimate

that for every 25 basis point increase in LIBOR, annual interest

expense will increase approximately $900 thousand; the

Company’s expectation that the weighted average number of

shares outstanding will increase 2% to 3% per year; the

Company’s estimate that fiscal 2005 capital spending will be in the

range of $115 million to $130 million; the identification of acqui-

sition candidates; the funding of capital expenditures, current

debt maturities and any future acquisitions through the use of

cash flow from operations, revolving credit facilities and other

financing alternatives; the ability of the Company to arrange addi-

tional sources of financing for unanticipated requirements; the

future payment of dividends; the Company’s ability to refinance

the term loan and grantor trust debt with borrowings under its

long-term revolving credit facilities; the ability to contain costs

and/or pass-on cost increases to customers in an inflationary envi-

ronment; the Company’s estimates of purchase commitments

associated with product supply agreements; and the performance

of counterparties under interest rate swap agreements.

These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from

those predicted in any forward-looking statement include, but are

not limited to: adverse customer response to the Company’s

strategic sales initiatives and resulting inability to drive sales

growth and market penetration; the Company’s inability to identi-

fy niche products and services that will grow at a faster rate than

the overall economy; the inability to take delivery of minimum

product purchases under the liquid bulk gas and carbon dioxide

supply agreements; the Company’s inability to control operating

expenses and the potential impact of higher operating expenses in

future periods; adverse changes in customer buying patterns; an

economic downturn (including adverse changes in the specific

markets for the Company’s products); higher than estimated

interest expense resulting from increases in LIBOR and/or changes

in the Company’s credit rating; disruption to the Company’s busi-

ness from integration problems associated with acquisitions; the

failure to close the BOC acquisition by July 30, 2004; higher or

lower capital spending in fiscal 2005 than that estimated by the

Company; a lack of available cash flow necessary to pay future

dividends; higher levels of options exercised or shares purchased

under the employee stock purchase programs and their effect on

weighted average shares outstanding; actual earnings in the first

quarter of fiscal 2005 and/or in fiscal 2005 falling outside the

Company’s range of estimates; the inability of the Company to

increase sales despite a rebound in the economy; the inability 

to generate sufficient cash flow from operations or other sources

to fund future acquisitions, capital expenditures, current debt

maturities and to reduce debt; the inability to identify and suc-

cessfully integrate acquisition candidates; defaults by counterpar-

ties under interest rate swap agreements; changes in the

Company’s debt levels and/or credit rating which prevent the

Company from arranging additional financing; the inability to

manage interest rate exposure; the effects of competition from

independent distributors and vertically integrated gas producers

on products, pricing and sales growth; changes in product 

prices from gas producers and name-brand manufacturers and

suppliers of hardgoods; the inability to pass-on cost increases to

customers; uncertainties regarding accidents or litigation which

may arise in the ordinary course of business; and the effects of,

and changes in, the economy, monetary and fiscal policies,

laws and regulations, inflation and monetary fluctuations and

fluctuations in interest rates, both on a national and international

basis. The Company does not undertake to update any forward-

looking statement made herein or that may be made from time to

time by or on behalf of the Company.
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(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Net Sales $ 1,895,468 $ 1,786,964 $ 1,636,047

Costs and Expenses

Cost of products sold (excluding depreciation expense) 908,681 850,316 818,753

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses 731,827 698,228 619,316

Depreciation 82,567 73,482 64,785

Amortization (Note 8) 5,389 6,362 8,160

Special charges (recoveries), net (Note 4) (776) 2,694 —

Total costs and expenses 1,727,688 1,631,082 1,511,014

Operating Income 167,780 155,882 125,033

Interest expense, net (Note 17) (42,357) (46,375) (47,013)

Discount on securitization of trade receivables (Note 13) (3,264) (3,326) (4,846)

Other income (expense), net (Note 3) 625 (645) 1,382

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates (Note 16) 5,213 3,768 3,835

Minority interest (Note 16) (291) — —

Earnings before income taxes and the cumulative effect of a 

change in accounting principle 127,706 109,304 78,391

Income taxes (Note 18) 47,514 41,199 29,806

Earnings before the cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle 80,192 68,105 48,585

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (Note 2) — — (59,000)

Net Earnings (Loss) $ 80,192 $ 68,105 $ (10,415)

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Earnings per share before the cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle $ 1.10 $ .97 $ .71

Cumulative effect per share of a change in accounting principle — — (.86)

Net earnings (loss) per share $ 1.10 $ .97 $ (.15)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Earnings per share before the cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle $ 1.07 $ .94 $ .69

Cumulative effect per share of a change in accounting principle — — (.84)

Net earnings (loss) per share $ 1.07 $ .94 $ (.15)

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic (Note 5) 72,800 70,500 68,100

Diluted (Note 5) 74,700 72,300 69,900

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 82,488 $ 69,204 $ (13,663)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands)

March 31, 2004 2003

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets

Current Assets

Trade receivables, less allowances for doubtful accounts of $7,294 in 2004

and $8,514 in 2003 (Note 13) $ 107,013 $ 71,346

Inventories, net (Note 6) 170,300 151,405

Deferred income tax asset, net (Note 18) 21,054 17,688

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 28,463 30,143

Total current assets 326,830 270,582

Plant and equipment at cost (Note 7) 1,654,187 1,345,783

Less accumulated depreciation (620,261) (476,291)

Plant and equipment, net 1,033,926 869,492

Goodwill (Note 8) 504,207 437,709

Other intangible assets, net (Note 8) 19,733 19,832

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates (Note 16) 6,292 65,957

Other non-current assets 40,091 36,671

Total assets $ 1,931,079 $ 1,700,243

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable, trade $ 114,303 $ 85,375

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (Note 9) 122,026 121,292

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) 6,140 2,229

Total current liabilities 242,469 208,896

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 682,698 658,031

Deferred income tax liability, net (Note 18) 257,031 209,140

Other non-current liabilities 20,789 27,243

Minority interest in subsidiary (Note 16) 36,191 —

Commitments and contingencies (Note 22)

Stockholders’ Equity (Note 14)

Preferred stock, no par value, 20,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or

outstanding in 2004 and 2003 — —

Common stock, par value $.01 per share, 200,000 shares authorized,

77,159 and 76,373 shares issued in 2004 and 2003, respectively 772 764

Capital in excess of par value 233,574 216,275

Retained earnings 481,677 413,286

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,566) (3,302)

Treasury stock, 1,470 and 547 common shares at cost in 2004 

and 2003, respectively (4,658) (4,289)

Employee benefits trust, 2,241 and 3,421 common shares at cost in 2004

and 2003, respectively (16,898) (25,801)

Total stockholders’ equity 691,901 596,933

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,931,079 $ 1,700,243

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Accumulated

Shares of Capital in Other Employee Comprehensive

Common Stock Common Excess of Retained Comprehensive Treasury Benefits Income/

(In thousands) $0.01 Par Value Stock Par Value Earnings Income/(Loss) Stock Trust (Loss)

Balance – March 31, 2001 74,360.9 $ 744 $ 188,629 $ 355,596 $ (1,153) $ (3,982) $ (42,985)

Net loss (10,415) $(10,415)

Foreign currency translation adjustment (1) (1)

Purchase of treasury stock (307)

Shares issued in connection with

stock options exercised (Note 15) 832.0 8 5,547 1,885

Tax benefit associated with exercise

of stock options (Note 18) 4,330

Shares issued from Employee Benefits Trust 

for Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 14) (1,074) 8,443

Issuance of warrants (Note 14) 1,068

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting

principle (Note 2) (6,664) (6,664)

Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements (Note 12) 1,740 1,740

Net tax benefit of comprehensive income items 1,677 1,677

Balance – March 31, 2002 75,192.9 $ 752 $ 198,500 $ 345,181 $ (4,401) $ (4,289) $ (32,657) $(13,663)

Net earnings 68,105 68,105

Foreign currency translation adjustment 715 715

Shares issued in connection with

stock options exercised (Note 15) 1,180.1 12 9,081 754

Tax benefit associated with exercise

of stock options (Note 18) 5,845

Shares issued from Employee Benefits Trust 

for Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 14) 2,849 6,102

Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements (Note 12) 565 565

Net tax expense of comprehensive income items (181) (181)

Balance – March 31, 2003 76,373.0 $ 764 $ 216,275 $ 413,286 $ (3,302) $ (4,289) $ (25,801) $ 69,204

Net earnings 80,192 80,192

Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,573 1,573

Shares issued in connection with

stock options exercised (Note 15) 786.0 8 8,395 4,728

Airgas common shares owned by 

National Welders (Note 14) (369)

Dividends paid on common stock 

($0.16 per share) (Note 14) (11,801)

Tax benefit associated with exercise

of stock options (Note 18) 6,190

Shares issued from Employee Benefits Trust 

for Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 14) 2,714 4,175

Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements (Note 12) 1,964 1,964

Consolidation of National Welders’ interest rate

swap agreement, net of cumulative tax benefit (1,560)

Net tax expense of comprehensive income items (1,241) (1,241)

Balance – March 31, 2004 77,159.0 $ 772 $ 233,574 $ 481,677 $ (2,566) $ (4,658) $ (16,898) $ 82,488

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net earnings (loss) $ 80,192 $ 68,105 $ (10,415)

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 82,567 73,482 64,785

Amortization 5,389 6,362 8,160

Deferred income taxes 23,172 8,655 34,578

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates (5,213) (3,768) (3,835)

(Gain)/loss on divestitures — 241 (1,916)

(Gain)/loss on sale of plant and equipment (837) (257) 405

Minority interest in earnings 291 — —

Stock issued for employee stock purchase plan 6,889 8,951 7,369

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — 59,000

Other non-cash charges — — 1,068

Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of

business acquisitions and divestitures:

Securitization of trade receivables 3,700 24,900 60,800

Trade receivables, net (15,901) (8,316) 9,111

Inventories, net (5,586) 4,675 12,614

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 10,146 17,718 (24,743) 

Accounts payable, trade 20,845 2,884 6,148

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 4,687 (8,021) 18,300

Other long-term assets 1,179 2,068 5,081

Other long-term liabilities (2,425) (3,280) 2,871

Net cash provided by operating activities 209,095 194,399 249,381

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (93,749) (67,969) (58,297)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 5,347 4,260 3,216

Proceeds from divestitures — 3,167 10,200

Business acquisitions, holdbacks, and other settlements of 

acquisition related liabilities (34,907) (27,216) (257,556)

Dividends and fees from unconsolidated affiliates 2,147 2,507 2,583

Other, net (1,369) (1,719) 5,153

Net cash used in investing activities (122,531) (86,970) (294,701)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 414,297 248,961 680,144

Repayment of debt (485,004) (367,356) (612,779)

Financing costs (2,737) — (12,461)

Minority interest (291) — —

Exercise of stock options 13,130 9,847 7,442

Dividends paid to stockholders (11,801) — —

Cash overdraft (14,158) 1,119 (17,026)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (86,564) (107,429) 45,320

Change In Cash $ — $ — $ —

Cash – Beginning of year — — —

Cash – End of year $ — $ — $ —

For supplemental cash flow disclosures see Note 23.
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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competition arrangements by determining whether the amortiza-

tion of the asset balance can be recovered through projected

undiscounted future cash flows of the related business over its

remaining life.

Financing costs related to the issuance of long-term debt are

deferred and recognized in other long-term assets. Deferred

financing costs are amortized as interest expense over the term of

the related debt.

(f) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company’s policy is to accrue estimated legal fees to defend

the Company through the resolution of the outstanding litigation

when probable and reasonably estimable. Liabilities for loss con-

tingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation and other

sources are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been

incurred and the amount of the claim, assessment or damages can

be reasonably estimated.

The Company maintains business insurance programs with signif-

icant self-insured retention, which covers workers’ compensation,

business automobile and general product liability claims. The

Company accrues estimated losses using actuarial models and

assumptions based on historical loss experience. The actuarial cal-

culations used to estimate business insurance reserves are based

on numerous assumptions, some of which are subjective. The

Company will adjust its business insurance reserves, if necessary,

in the event future loss experience differs from historical loss 

patterns.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which

provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under

the plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not

reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an

estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,

some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-

insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience

changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan

participants and an aging employee base.

(g) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability

method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the

future tax consequences attributable to differences between the

financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and

their respective tax bases and operating loss carryforwards.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax

rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which

those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or set-

tled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in

tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the

enactment date. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce

deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax bene-

fit will not be realized.

Note 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Description of the Business

Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) is the largest U.S.

distributor of industrial, medical and specialty gases (delivered in

“packaged” or cylinder form), process chemicals, and welding,

safety and related products (“hardgoods”). The Company also

produces dry ice, liquid carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide and special-

ty gases for distribution throughout the United States. The

Company was founded in 1982 and became publicly traded on the

New York Stock Exchange in 1986.

(b) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of

Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries, as well as the Company’s consolidat-

ed affiliate, National Welders (see Notes 2 and 16).

Unconsolidated affiliates are accounted for on the equity method

and generally consist of 50% owned operations. Intercompany

accounts and transactions, including those between the Company

and National Welders, are eliminated in consolidation.

The Company has made estimates and assumptions relating to the

reporting of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities to prepare these statements in conformity

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

of America. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, determining

the net carrying value of trade receivables, inventories, plant and

equipment, goodwill, other intangible assets and loss contingen-

cies. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(c) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is deter-

mined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for approxi-

mately 85% and 90% of the inventories at March 31, 2004 and

2003, respectively. Cost for the remainder of inventories is deter-

mined using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method.

(d) Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. Depreciation is

computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated

useful lives of the related assets. The carrying values of long-lived

assets, including plant and equipment, are reviewed for impair-

ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the recorded value cannot be recovered from undiscounted future

cash flows. When the book value of an asset exceeds associated

expected future cash flows, it is considered to be impaired and is

written down to fair value, which is determined based on either

future cash flows or appraised values.

(e) Other Intangible Assets and Deferred Financing Costs

Costs and payments pursuant to non-competition arrangements

entered into in connection with business acquisitions are amor-

tized over the terms of the arrangements, which are principally

over five years. The Company assesses the recoverability of non-
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(h) Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations is

the applicable local currency. The translation of foreign currencies

into U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using

current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for

revenue and expense accounts using average exchange rates during

each reporting period. The gains or losses resulting from such

translations are included in stockholders’ equity as a component

of “Accumulated other comprehensive loss.” Gains and losses aris-

ing from foreign currency transactions are reflected in the consol-

idated statements of earnings as incurred.

(i) Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to

concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade receiv-

ables. Concentrations of credit risk are limited due to the

Company’s large number of customers and their dispersion across

many industries throughout North America. Credit terms granted

to customers are generally net 30 days.

(j) Financial Instruments

In managing interest rate risk exposure, the Company enters into

interest rate swap agreements. An interest rate swap is a contrac-

tual exchange of interest payments between two parties. A stan-

dard interest rate swap involves the payment of a fixed rate times

a notional amount by one party in exchange for a floating rate

times the same notional amount from another party. As interest

rates change, the difference to be paid or received is accrued and

recognized as interest expense over the life of the agreement.

These instruments are not entered into for trading purposes and

the Company has the ability and intent to hold these instruments

to maturity. Counterparties to the Company’s interest rate swap

agreements are major financial institutions. With the adoption of

the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, Accounting for

Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, as amended

by SFAS No. 137 and 138, in fiscal 2002 (see Note 2), the

Company recognizes interest rate swap agreements on the balance

sheet at fair value. The interest rate swap agreements are marked

to market with changes in fair value recognized in either other

comprehensive income (loss) or in the carrying value of the

hedged portions of the medium-term and senior subordinated

debt notes.

The carrying amounts for trade receivables and accounts payable

approximate fair value based on the short-term maturity of these

financial instruments.

(k) Employee Benefits Trust

The Company established a trust (the “Employee Benefits Trust”)

to fund future obligations of the Company’s employee benefit and

compensation plans. Shares are purchased by the Employee

Benefits Trust from the Company at fair market value and are

reflected as a reduction of stockholders’ equity in the Company’s

Consolidated Balance Sheets under the caption “Employee benefits

trust.” Shares are transferred from the Employee Benefits Trust to

fund compensation and employee benefit obligations based on the

original cost of the shares to the trust. The satisfaction of compen-

sation and employee benefit plan obligations is based on the fair

value of shares transferred. Differences between the original cost of

the shares to the Employee Benefits Trust and the fair market value

of shares transferred is charged or credited to capital in excess of

par value.

(l) Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of gases and hardgoods products is recognized

when products are delivered to customers. Rental fees on cylinders,

cryogenic liquid containers, bulk gas storage tanks and other

equipment are recognized when earned. Under long-term lease

agreements in which rental fees are collected in advance, revenues

are deferred and recognized over the terms of the lease agreements.

(m) Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold for the Distribution segment principally con-

sists of direct material costs and freight-in for bulk gas purchases

and hardgoods (welding supplies and equipment, safety products

and industrial tools and supplies). Maintenance costs associated

with cylinders, cryogenic liquid containers and bulk tanks are also

reflected in Cost of products sold.

Cost of products sold for All Other Operations, which produce

much of the gas sold, consists of direct material costs, direct labor,

manufacturing overhead, freight-in and internal transfer costs

associated with the production of certain gas products, principally,

dry ice, carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, specialty gases, as well as 

the oxygen, nitrogen and argon sold by the Company’s consolidat-

ed affiliate, National Welders.

(n) Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses consist of labor

and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing and distri-

bution of the Company’s products, as well as costs associated with

a variety of administrative functions such as legal, treasury,

accounting and tax, and facility-related expenses.

(o) Depreciation

The Company recognizes depreciation expense on all its property,

plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of earnings line

item “Depreciation.”

 



ated after June 30, 2001. The adoption of SFAS 141 did not have

an impact on the historical results of operations, financial posi-

tion or liquidity of the Company.

SFAS 142

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets. As permitted under the Statement, the Company

adopted SFAS 142 effective April 1, 2001. SFAS 142 requires good-

will and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives to no longer

be amortized, but instead be tested for impairment at least annu-

ally. Upon adoption of SFAS 142, the Company performed an

evaluation of goodwill, which indicated that goodwill recorded in

the Distribution segment associated with its industrial tool

reporting unit was impaired as of April 1, 2001. Accordingly, the

Company recognized a $59 million non-cash charge, recorded as

of April 1, 2001, as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting

principle for the write-down of goodwill to its fair value. The

impaired goodwill was not deductible for taxes, and as a result, no

tax benefit was recorded in relation to the charge.

With the adoption of SFAS 142, the Company reassessed the use-

ful lives and residual values of all acquired intangible assets to

make any necessary amortization period adjustments. Based on

that assessment, no adjustments were made to the amortization

period or residual values of other intangible assets.

SFAS 142 also requires goodwill to be tested annually and between

annual tests if events occur or circumstances change that would

more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit

below its carrying amount. The Company has elected to perform

its annual tests for indications of goodwill impairment as of

October 31 of each year. As of October 31, 2003 and 2002, the

Company’s annual assessment of each of its reporting units indi-

cated that goodwill was not impaired.

SFAS 143

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset

Retirement Obligations. SFAS 143 requires the recognition of a lia-

bility for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is

incurred. A retirement obligation is defined as one in which a

legal obligation exists in the future resulting from existing laws,

statutes or contracts. The Company adopted SFAS 143 on April 1,

2003, as required. The adoption of SFAS 143 did not have a 

material impact on its results of operations, financial position or 

liquidity.

SFAS 144 

On April 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144, Accounting

for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, as required.

SFAS 144 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the

impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, including discontin-

ued operations. The adoption of SFAS 144 did not have a material

impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results

of operations or liquidity.

(p) Shipping and Handling Fees and Distribution Costs

The Company recognizes delivery and freight charges to cus-

tomers as elements of net sales. Costs of third-party freight are

recognized as cost of products sold. The majority of the costs

associated with the distribution of the Company’s products, which

include direct labor and overhead associated with filling, ware-

housing and delivery by Company vehicles, is reflected in selling,

distribution and administrative expenses and were $277 million,

$258 million and $217 million for the fiscal years ended March 31,

2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company conducts multi-

ple operations out of the same facilities and does not allocate

facility-related expenses to each operational function. Accordingly,

there is no facility-related expense in the distribution costs dis-

closed above. Depreciation expense associated with the Company’s

delivery fleet of $4.3 million, $4.5 million, and $4.9 million was

recognized in depreciation for the fiscal years ended March 31,

2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Note 2
Accounting and Disclosure Changes

SFAS 132 (revised 2003)

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003),

Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement

Benefits. This revised statement retains the disclosures required by

the original SFAS No. 132, which standardized employers’ disclo-

sures about pensions and other postretirement benefits, and

requires additional disclosures concerning the economic resources

and obligations related to pension plans and other postretirement

benefits. This revised statement is effective for fiscal years ending

after December 15, 2003. The Company adopted SFAS 132 in fis-

cal 2004, as required. Since the Company does not have any

defined benefit plans, the adoption of SFAS 132 did not impact

the Company’s benefit plan disclosures.

SFAS 133

On April 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, Accounting

for Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, as

amended by SFAS No. 137 and 138, (“SFAS 133”) which requires

all derivatives to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. In

accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS 133, on April 1,

2001, the Company recorded the cumulative effect of this

accounting change as a liability and a deferred loss of $6.7 million

in the accumulated other comprehensive loss component of stock-

holders’ equity to recognize, at fair value, interest rate swap agree-

ments that are designated as cash flow hedging instruments.

Additionally, the Company recorded an asset and adjusted the car-

rying value of the hedged portion of its fixed rate debt by $6 mil-

lion to recognize, at fair value, interest rate swap agreements that

are designated as fair value hedging instruments.

SFAS 141

Effective July 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 141,

Business Combinations. SFAS 141 requires that the purchase

method of accounting be used for all business combinations initi-
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SFAS 150

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for

Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both

Liabilities and Equity. SFAS 150 establishes standards for how an

issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with

characteristics of both liabilities and equity in the statement of

financial position. SFAS 150 requires that an issuer classify a

financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an

asset in some circumstances). Many of those financial instruments

were previously classified as equity. The Company adopted SFAS

150 on July 1, 2003, as required. The adoption of SFAS 150 did

not have a material impact on its results of operations, financial

position or liquidity.

FASB Financial Interpretation No. 45

In November 2002, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No.

45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for

Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,

(“FIN 45”). FIN 45 elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a

guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its

obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. It also clar-

ifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a

guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertak-

en in issuing the guarantee. The initial recognition and measure-

ment provisions of FIN 45 are applicable on a prospective basis to

guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002.

Based on a review of the Company’s material contracts and

finance agreements, the only additional disclosure required by the

interpretation relates to the Company’s residual value guarantee

associated with certain leased vehicles (see Note 21).

FASB Financial Interpretation No. 46

In January 2003, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No. 46,

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, (“FIN 46”). The inter-

pretation was initially effective for the first interim period begin-

ning after June 15, 2003. However, as a result of implementation

issues, in December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation

No. 46 (revised December 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest

Entities, (“FIN 46R”), which was effective as of the end of the first

reporting period ending after March 15, 2004, with early adoption

permitted.

FIN 46 and FIN 46R addresses consolidation by a business enter-

prise of variable interest entities. Variable interest entities are

defined as corporations, partnerships, trusts, or any other legal

structure used for business purposes, and by design, the holders of

equity instruments in those entities lack one of the characteristics

of a financial controlling interest. FIN 46 and FIN 46R changes

previous accounting practice by introducing the concept of a

“Primary Beneficiary” and requires variable interest entities to be

consolidated by the party deemed to be the Primary Beneficiary

(i.e., the party that is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from

the variable interest entity’s activities or entitled to receive a

majority of the entity’s residual returns or both). Under previous

accounting practice, entities generally were not consolidated

unless the entity was controlled through voting interests.

SFAS 146

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 146,

Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, as

required, which is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated

after December 31, 2002. SFAS 146 nullifies Emerging Issues Task

Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain

Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity

(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). SFAS 146

addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated

with exit or disposal activities, including restructuring activities.

The Statement requires that a liability for a cost associated with an

exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is

incurred as opposed to at the time the Company commits to an

exit plan as previously permitted under EITF 94-3. The adoption

of SFAS 146 did not have a material impact on the Company’s

consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

SFAS 148

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for

Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure. Based on

the Statement’s effective date of fiscal years ending after December

31, 2002, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 148 in fis-

cal 2003. SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation, to provide alternative methods of transition for an

entity that voluntarily changes to the fair value basis of account-

ing for stock-based employee compensation. The Statement also

amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123 to require promi-

nent disclosure about the effects on reported net income of an

entity’s accounting policy decisions with respect to stock-based

employee compensation. The Company has elected to continue to

account for its stock-based compensation plans using the intrinsic

value method of accounting as permitted by Accounting

Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to

Employees, but has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS

148 (see Note 15).

SFAS 149

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of

Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.

SFAS 149 amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting

for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instru-

ments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities

under SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities. SFAS 149 requires, among other things, that

contracts with comparable characteristics be accounted for simi-

larly and clarifies the circumstances under which a contract with

an initial net investment meets the characteristic of a derivative

and when a derivative contains a financing component that war-

rants special reporting in the statement of cash flows. The

Company adopted SFAS 149 on July 1, 2003, as required. The

adoption of SFAS 149 did not have a material impact on its results

of operations, financial position or liquidity.
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that the Company earns the residual net income available to the

common stockholder, which is net of the minority interest

expense. Since the allocation of the joint venture’s net earnings

was unaffected by the adoption of FIN 46R, the consolidation of

National Welders did not impact the Company’s net earnings. See

Note 16 for additional disclosures regarding National Welders.

Note 3
Acquisitions and Divestitures

(a) Acquisitions

Acquisitions have been recorded using the purchase method of

accounting and, accordingly, results of their operations have been

included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since

the effective date of each respective acquisition. The purchase

price for business acquisitions was allocated to the assets acquired

and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the

date of acquisition. Such allocations were based on preliminary

estimates of fair value at the date of acquisition, which may be

revised at a later date.

Fiscal 2004

During fiscal 2004, the Company purchased five businesses associ-

ated with the distribution of packaged gases and related hard-

goods products and dry ice. The largest of these businesses and

their effective dates of acquisition included Delta Safety Supply,

Inc. (May 1, 2003) and Interstate Welding Sales Corporation

(March 31, 2004). The aggregate purchase price of the fiscal 2004

acquisitions was $41 million, including assumed liabilities. Four of

the businesses had aggregate annual revenues of approximately

$57 million and were included in the Distribution segment. One

acquired dry ice distribution business generated annual revenues

of approximately $2 million and was included in All Other

Operations. The Company negotiated the respective purchase

prices of the businesses based on the expected cash flows to be

derived from their operations after integration into the

Company’s existing distribution network. The Company acquired

the businesses to expand its geographic coverage and strengthen

its national network of branch store locations. Total assets con-

tributed by fiscal 2004 acquisitions were approximately $41 mil-

lion. The excess of the purchase price of acquired businesses over

the net assets acquired (“goodwill”) related to fiscal 2004 acquisi-

tions amounted to approximately $10 million. Intangible assets,

other than goodwill, totaled approximately $5 million and prima-

rily related to customer lists and non-compete agreements

obtained from the sellers of the businesses.

For the fiscal 2004 acquisitions, additional work related to the

performance of asset appraisals needs to be completed to finalize

the allocation of the purchase price to net assets, identified intan-

gibles and goodwill acquired. The entire purchase price ultimately

assigned to goodwill will be deductible for income taxes. The

Company does not expect the final allocation of the purchase

price to differ materially from the amounts included in the

accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Since October 1999, the Company has leased certain real estate

and equipment from a grantor trust (the “Trust”) under a sale-

leaseback arrangement. The Trust incurred debt to purchase the

properties and equipment from the Company. The Company, in

turn, paid rent to the Trust. The rental payments to the Trust were

based on LIBOR plus an applicable margin and matched the debt

service requirements for the debt held by the Trust. The Trust was

not consolidated for financial reporting purposes and the non-

cancelable lease obligation of the real estate and equipment leases

totaled approximately $41 million at March 31, 2003.

Effective July 1, 2003, the Company elected to early adopt FIN 46

with respect to the Trust. The Company determined the Trust to

be a variable interest entity as defined by FIN 46. In addition, the

Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary of the

sale-leaseback arrangement. FIN 46 required the Company to con-

solidate the Trust for financial reporting purposes. Upon consoli-

dation, the Company recorded on its balance sheet approximately

$29 million of real estate and equipment and debt of $42 million,

while eliminating a long-term deferred gain of $13 million. The

consolidation of the Trust resulted in the Company recognizing $1

million in interest expense and $1 million in depreciation expense

in the nine months ended March 31, 2004, which had previously

been recognized as rent expense to the Trust. The debt of the

grantor trust matures in October 2004 and is classified as long-

term based upon the Company’s ability and intention to refinance

it with borrowings under its long-term credit facilities.

Since June 1996, the Company has participated in a joint venture

with National Welders Supply Company, Inc. (“National

Welders”), a producer and distributor of industrial gases based in

Charlotte, North Carolina. The Company determined that

National Welders meets the definition of a “Variable Interest

Entity” under FIN 46R and that the Company is the Primary

Beneficiary of the joint venture. Therefore, effective December 31,

2003, the Company elected to adopt FIN 46R, as it applies to the

joint venture, and consolidated National Welders. As permitted by

FIN 46R, the Company applied the interpretation prospectively

from the date of adoption. Therefore, at December 31, 2003, the

consolidation of National Welders only affected the balance sheet.

There was no cumulative effect adjustment or impact on cash

flows as a result of the consolidation. The consolidation had the

effect of eliminating the Company’s $62 million investment in

National Welders and recording the joint venture’s assets, liabilities

and a corresponding minority interest liability. The assets and lia-

bilities of National Welders included goodwill of $56 million and

debt of $62 million, which is non-recourse to the Company.

Beginning January 1, 2004, National Welders’ operating results

were no longer reflected as “Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated

Affiliates.” Rather, the operating results were reflected broadly

across the income statement with minority interest expense repre-

senting the quarterly dividend on the joint venture’s redeemable

preferred stock, net of interest earned on a note receivable from

the preferred stockholders. The joint venture is structured such
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Fiscal 2003

During fiscal 2003, the Company purchased four businesses that

distribute packaged gases and related equipment and hardgoods

products with combined annual revenues of $33 million. The

largest of these businesses and their effective dates of acquisition

included Welding Metals, Inc. (November 27, 2002) and Union

Industrial Gas and Supply, Inc. (March 31, 2003). The aggregate

purchase price of all four acquisitions was $23.8 million, including

assumed liabilities. The acquired businesses have been included in

the Distribution segment from their effective dates of acquisition.

Goodwill related to fiscal 2003 acquisitions totaled approximately

$6.4 million and was deductible for income taxes.

Fiscal 2002

On February 28, 2002, the Company purchased the majority of

Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.’s (“Air Products”) U.S. packaged

gas business, excluding its electronic gases and magnetic reso-

nance imaging-related helium operations, for cash of approxi-

mately $247 million, including transaction costs. The transaction

was financed entirely with senior bank debt. The acquisition

included 88 facilities in 30 states associated with the filling and

distribution of cylinders, liquid dewars, tube trailers, and other

containers of industrial gases and non-electronic specialty gases,

and the selling of welding hardgoods, including customer service

centers, warehouses, and other related assets. The Company

acquired the business based on its strategic fit with the Company’s

existing packaged gas distribution business and to strengthen its

national network by giving it a presence in important geogra-

phies. Additionally, the acquisition strengthened the core compe-

tencies of the Company’s specialty gas operations, enabling it to

enhance its competitiveness. These operations historically generat-

ed annual revenues of approximately $220 million and had 1,100

employees. Air Products also sold its packaged gas operations in

the Carolinas and southern Virginia to National Welders.

Goodwill related to the Air Products acquisition amounted to

approximately $48 million, of which $25.9 million was recognized

in fiscal 2003. The fiscal 2003 increase in goodwill was the result

of adjustments to the March 31, 2002 preliminary purchase price

allocation. The revised purchase price allocation was based on

estimates of fair values determined primarily through third party

appraisals. Third party appraisals and cylinder and other fixed

asset inventories related to the Air Products acquisition were final-

ized during fiscal 2003.

Additionally, in September 2001, the Company acquired six retail

distributor locations from Air Liquide America Corporation (“Air

Liquide”). The purchase price of $11 million resulted in goodwill

of approximately $7 million. The goodwill associated with the Air

Liquide transaction was entirely deductible for income taxes.

These operations added annual revenues of approximately $10

million.
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Pro Forma Operating Results

The following presents unaudited pro forma operating results as if

the fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 acquisitions had occurred on April

1, 2001. The pro forma results were prepared from financial infor-

mation obtained during the due diligence process associated with

the acquisitions. Pro forma adjustments to the historic financial

information of businesses acquired were limited to those related

to the Company’s stepped-up basis in acquired assets and adjust-

ments to reflect the Company’s borrowing and tax rates. The pro

forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only

and do not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred

had the acquisitions been made as of April 1, 2001 or of results

that may occur in the future.

Unaudited
Years Ended March 31,

(In thousands,
except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $1,941,977 $1,876,779 $1,939,383
Income before the cumulative 

effect of a change in 
accounting principle 80,195 69,612 53,916

Net earnings (loss) 80,195 69,612 (5,084)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 1.07 $ 0.96 $ (0.07)

(b) Divestitures

In fiscal 2002, the carrying values of the net assets of Kendeco,

Inc. (“Kendeco”), an industrial tool business in the Distribution

operating segment, were reduced by $3.6 million to their net real-

izable value based on the estimated selling price less cost to sell.

The loss, reflected in “Other income (expense), net,” included the

write-off of $3.1 million of non-tax deductible goodwill. The

Company completed the sale of Kendeco in May 2002 (fiscal

2003) and recognized a loss on the sale of $1.7 million. Kendeco

contributed sales of $17.7 million and operating income of $158

thousand in fiscal 2002. Kendeco’s fiscal 2003 operating results

were insignificant.

In fiscal 2000, the Company divested its investment in a Polish gas

distributor. As part of the sale agreement, the Company made rep-

resentations and warranties about the business being sold.

Subsequently, the acquirer presented the Company with an

indemnity claim as a breach of the representations and warranties

provided for under the sale agreement. In fiscal 2002, the

Company recorded a liability and related expense of $1.9 million

associated with the indemnity claim. In fiscal 2003, the Company

favorably resolved the indemnity claim and reversed $1.5 million

of expense, net of legal fees paid, and the related liability. These

items are reflected in “Other income (expense), net” in the respec-

tive fiscal years.

In October 2001, the Company sold two of its nitrous oxide pro-

duction facilities to Air Liquide. The Company retained its

remaining four nitrous oxide production facilities to meet its

requirements as a major producer and distributor of nitrous

oxide. After-tax proceeds from the sale of approximately $10 mil-

lion were used to reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolv-

ing credit facilities. The Company recognized a gain on the

 



transaction of $7.4 million in “Other income (expense), net” in

fiscal 2002. The nitrous oxide facilities were reflected in the oper-

ating results of the All Other Operations segment. The divested

operations generated sales of $3.5 million and operating income

of $1.2 million in fiscal 2002.

Note 4
Special Charges (Recoveries), Net

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company recorded a

special charge recovery of $776 thousand (the “2004 Special

Recovery”) consisting of lower estimates of the ultimate cost of

prior years’ restructuring charges. The 2004 Special Recovery per-

tained to a change in estimate related to facility exit costs.

During fiscal 2003, the Company recorded a special charge of $2.7

million (the “2003 Special Charge”) consisting of a restructuring

charge related to the integration of the business acquired from Air

Products during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002 and costs related

to the consolidation of certain hardgoods procurement functions.

The special charge included facility exit costs associated with the

closure of certain facilities and severance. The facilities exited and

the affected employees were part of the Company’s existing opera-

tions prior to the acquisition of the Air Products business.

During fiscal 2002, the Company announced the transition of cer-

tain administrative functions to a financial shared services center.

The Company recorded a special charge of approximately $1 mil-

lion (the “2002 Special Charge”) for severance costs and costs relat-

ed to exiting one facility associated with the fiscal 2003-2004

transition to the shared services center.

At March 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, accrued liabilities associated

with the special charges were as follows:

(In thousands) Severance Facility exit 

Years Ended March 31, costs costs Total

March 31, 2001 liability $ 2,727 $ 2,430 $ 5,157
2002 Special Charge 916 41 957
Cash payments (2,162) (289) (2,451)
Change in estimate (565) (392) (957)
March 31, 2002 liability $ 916 $ 1,790 $ 2,706
2003 Special Charge 1,326 1,368 2,694
Cash payments (1,269) (758) (2,027)
March 31, 2003 liability $ 973 $ 2,400 $ 3,373
2004 Special Recovery — (776) (776)
Cash payments (973) (621) (1,594)
March 31, 2004 liability $ — $ 1,003 $ 1,003

During fiscal 2002, the Company reduced its estimate related to

severance and facility exit costs associated with a 2001 cost reduc-

tion plan by approximately $1 million. The change in estimate was

recorded as a recovery in fiscal 2002 through the “Special charges

(recoveries), net” line in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

The remaining liability for facility exit costs at March 31, 2004

relates to non-cancelable lease obligations that will be reduced

over future periods as lease payments are made over the remain-

ing terms of the leases.
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Note 5
Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net earn-

ings (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of the

Company’s common stock outstanding during the period.

Outstanding shares consist of issued shares less treasury stock and

common stock held by the Employee Benefits Trust. Diluted earn-

ings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net earnings (loss)

by the weighted average common shares outstanding adjusted for

the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents related to stock

options and warrants.

The table below reconciles basic weighted average common 

shares outstanding to diluted weighted average common shares

outstanding for the three years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 

and 2002:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002

Weighted average common 
shares outstanding:

Basic 72,800 70,500 68,100
Stock options and warrants 1,900 1,800 1,800

Diluted 74,700 72,300 69,900

Pursuant to a joint venture agreement between the Company and

the holders of the preferred stock of National Welders, between

June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2009, the preferred shareholders have

the option to exchange their 3.2 million preferred shares of

National Welders either for cash at a price of $17.78 per share or

to tender them to the joint venture in exchange for approximately

2.3 million shares of Airgas common stock (see Note 16). If Airgas

common stock has a market value of $24.45 per share, the stock

and cash redemption options are equivalent. No contingently

issuable shares are included in the diluted weighted average com-

mon shares calculation (the “diluted computation”), as the con-

version of the National Welders preferred stock in exchange for

the Company’s common stock is anti-dilutive.

Outstanding stock options and warrants, with an exercise price

above market, are excluded from the Company’s diluted computa-

tion as their effect would be anti-dilutive. There were approxi-

mately 545 thousand, 2 million and 2.6 million outstanding stock

options and warrants with an exercise price above the average

market price at March 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. If

the average market value of the Company’s common stock

increases above the respective exercise prices of the options and

warrants, they will be included in the diluted computation as

common stock equivalents.
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Other intangible assets amounted to $19.7 million (net of accu-

mulated amortization of $33.2 million) and $19.8 million (net of

accumulated amortization of $27.8 million) at March 31, 2004

and 2003, respectively. These intangible assets primarily consist of

non-compete agreements entered into in connection with busi-

ness combinations and are amortized over the term of the agree-

ments, principally five years. There are no expected residual

values related to these intangible assets. Estimated future amorti-

zation expense by fiscal year is as follows: 2005 - $5.8 million;

2006 - $4.4 million; 2007 - $3.2 million; 2008 - $2.4 million; 2009

- $1.1 million and $2.8 million thereafter.

Note 9
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities include:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2004 2003

Accrued payroll and employee benefits $ 39,133 $ 33,548
Business insurance reserves 19,824 15,272
Health insurance reserves 9,627 9,828
Accrued interest expense 12,724 12,000
Taxes other than income taxes 12,828 12,972
Other accrued expenses and 

current liabilities 27,890 37,672
$ 122,026 $ 121,292

Note 10
Indebtedness

Long-term debt consists of:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2004 2003

Revolving credit borrowings $ 26,689 $ 145,143
Term loan 70,000 87,500
Medium-term notes 106,730 185,202
Senior subordinated notes 382,102 232,478
Debt of grantor trust 41,030 —
Acquisition and other notes 8,464 9,937
National Welders debt 53,823 —
Total long-term debt 688,838 660,260
Less current portion of long-term debt (6,140) (2,229)
Long-term debt, excluding current portion $ 682,698 $ 658,031

Revolving Credit Facilities

The Company has unsecured revolving credit facilities with a syn-

dicate of lenders totaling $367.5 million and $50 million

Canadian (U.S. $38.2 million). The revolving credit facilities will

mature on July 30, 2006. At March 31, 2004, the Company had

borrowings under the revolving facilities of approximately $8 mil-

lion and $25 million Canadian (U.S. $19 million). The Company

also had commitments under letters of credit supported by the

Note 6
Inventories, Net

Inventories, net, consist of:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2004 2003

Hardgoods $ 154,038 $ 136,347
Gases 16,262 15,058

$ 170,300 $ 151,405

Net inventories determined by the LIFO inventory method totaled

$26.8 million and $15.7 million at March 31, 2004 and 2003,

respectively. If the FIFO inventory method had been used for

these inventories, they would have been $3 million and $1.4 mil-

lion higher at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Substantially

all of the inventories are finished goods. The increase in net inven-

tories determined by the LIFO inventory method resulted from

the consolidation of National Welders (see Notes 2 and 16).

Note 7
Plant and Equipment

The major classes of plant and equipment, at cost, are as follows:

(In thousands) Depreciable

March 31, Lives (Yrs) 2004 2003

Land and land improvements — $ 61,072 $ 35,929
Buildings and leasehold improvements 25 167,217 121,303
Cylinders 30 696,624 633,436
Machinery and equipment, 

including bulk tanks 7 to 30 516,704 384,425
Computers and furniture 

and fixtures 3 to 10 116,259 102,557
Transportation equipment 3 to 15 92,092 58,868
Construction in progress — 4,219 9,265

$ 1,654,187 $ 1,345,783

Note 8
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal 2004 and

2003 were as follows:

All Other 

Distribution Operations

(In thousands) Segment Segment Total

Balance at March 31, 2002 $ 332,325 $ 74,223 $ 406,548
Acquisitions 31,208 1,096 32,304
Divestitures (1,560) — (1,560)
Other adjustments 427 (10) 417

Balance at March 31, 2003 $ 362,400 $ 75,309 $ 437,709
Acquisitions 8,849 1,096 9,945
Consolidation of National 

Welders (see Notes 2 and 16) — 55,131 55,131
Other adjustments 1,314 108 1,422
Balance at March 31, 2004 $ 372,563 $ 131,644 $ 504,207

 



Medium-Term Notes

At March 31, 2004, the Company had $100 million of unsecured

medium-term notes outstanding due September 2006 and bearing

interest at a fixed rate of 7.75%. The medium-term notes are

guaranteed by each of the domestic guarantors under the revolv-

ing credit facilities.

Acquisition and Other Notes

Acquisition and other notes principally consist of notes issued to

sellers of businesses acquired and are repayable in periodic install-

ments. At March 31, 2004, acquisition and other notes totaled $8.5

million with interest rates ranging from 4% to 9%.

Senior Subordinated Notes

In March 2004, the Company issued $150 million of senior subor-

dinated notes (the “2004 Notes”) with a maturity date of July 15,

2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 6.25%,

payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 of each year.

Proceeds from the issuance of the 2004 Notes were used to redeem

$75 million of medium-term notes due March 2004 and to pay

down borrowings on the Company’s U.S. revolving credit facility.

The 2004 Notes were sold in accordance with the provisions of

Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”).

During fiscal 2005, the Company will exchange the 2004 Notes for

substantially similar notes registered with the Securities and

Exchange Commission in accordance with the Securities Act.

In addition to the 2004 Notes, at March 31, 2004, the Company

had $225 million of senior subordinated notes (the “2001 Notes”)

outstanding with a maturity date of October 1, 2011. The 2001

Notes bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 9.125%, payable semi-

annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year.

The 2004 and 2001 Notes contain covenants that could restrict the

payment of dividends, the repurchase of common stock, the

issuance of preferred stock, and the incurrence of additional

indebtedness and liens. The 2004 and 2001 Notes are guaranteed

on a subordinated basis by each of the domestic guarantors under

the revolving credit facilities.

Debt of Grantor Trust

Since October 1999, the Company has leased certain real estate

and equipment from a grantor trust (the “Trust”) under a sale-

leaseback arrangement. The Trust incurred debt to purchase the

properties and equipment from the Company. The Company, in

turn, paid rent to the Trust. The rental payments to the Trust were

based on LIBOR plus an applicable margin and matched the debt

service requirements for the debt held by the Trust. The Trust was

not consolidated for financial reporting purposes and the non-

cancelable lease obligation of the real estate and equipment leases

totaled approximately $41 million at March 31, 2003.

Effective July 1, 2003, the Company elected to early adopt FIN 46

with respect to the Trust (see Note 2). The Company determined

the Trust to be a variable interest entity as defined by FIN 46. In

addition, the Company was determined to be the primary benefi-

ciary of the sale-leaseback arrangement. FIN 46 required the

revolving credit facilities of approximately $33 million at March

31, 2004. Based on restrictions related to certain leverage ratios,

the Company had additional borrowing capacity under the

revolving facilities of approximately $225 million at March 31,

2004. The variable interest rates of the U.S. and Canadian revolv-

ing credit facilities are based on the London Interbank Offered

Rate (“LIBOR”) and Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance Rates, respec-

tively. At March 31, 2004, the effective interest rates on borrowings

under the revolving facilities were 3.13% on U.S. borrowings and

4.44% on Canadian borrowings.

Borrowings under the revolving credit facilities are guaranteed by

certain of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries and Canadian

borrowings are guaranteed by Canadian subsidiaries. The

Company pledged 100% of the stock of its domestic guarantor

subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of its foreign guarantor sub-

sidiaries for the benefit of the syndicate of lenders. If the

Company’s credit rating is reduced, the Company will be required

to grant a security interest in substantially all of the tangible and

intangible assets of the Company for the benefit of the syndicate

of lenders. The revolving credit facilities also contain covenants,

which include the maintenance of certain leverage ratios, a fixed

charge ratio, and potential restrictions on certain additional bor-

rowing, the amount of dividends declared and paid, and the

repurchase of common stock.

In May 2003, the Company obtained an amendment to its credit

agreement that allowed for the issuance of up to an additional

$200 million of senior public debt and for the expansion of its

senior credit facilities by up to $150 million (see Senior

Subordinated Notes below). Subject to existing financial

covenants, the amendment also provided the Company with addi-

tional flexibility to pay dividends, repurchase Company common

stock and to invest in acquisitions.

In anticipation of the acquisition of assets from The BOC Group,

Inc. (“BOC”) (see Note 26), the Company obtained an amend-

ment to its credit agreement in February 2004 that, among other

things, permits the Company to invest up to $275 million in

acquisitions during fiscal 2005.

Term Loan

At March 31, 2004, the Company had an outstanding term loan

with a principal balance of $70 million bearing an effective inter-

est rate of 3.11%. The term loan is due in quarterly installments

with a final payment due July 30, 2006. The term loan is unse-

cured and bears a variable interest rate based on LIBOR plus a

spread related to the Company’s credit rating. Principal payments

on the term loan are classified as “Long-term Debt” in the

Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets based on the Company’s

ability and intention to refinance the payments with borrowings

under its long-term revolving credit facilities.
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Company to consolidate the Trust for financial reporting purpos-

es. Upon consolidation, the Company recorded on its balance

sheet approximately $29 million of real estate and equipment and

debt of $42 million, while eliminating a long-term deferred gain

of $13 million. The consolidation of the Trust resulted in the

Company recognizing $1 million in interest expense and $1 mil-

lion in depreciation expense in the nine months ended March 31,

2004, which had previously been recognized as rent expense to the

Trust. The debt of the grantor trust matures in October 2004 and

is classified as long-term based upon the Company’s ability and

intention to refinance it with borrowings under its long-term

credit facilities.

Debt of the National Welders Joint Venture

Effective December 31, 2003, the Company adopted FIN 46R and

consolidated its National Welders joint venture. In accordance

with the requirements of FIN 46R, the Company’s Consolidated

Balance Sheet at March 31, 2004 includes the financial obligations

of the National Welders joint venture. National Welders’ financial

debt instruments are non-recourse to the Company, meaning that

the creditors of National Welders do not have a claim on the assets

of Airgas, Inc. in settlement of the joint venture’s debt obligations.

The debt of National Welders consists of:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2004

Revolving credit borrowings $ 5,507
Term loans 42,142
Acquisition and other notes 6,174
Total long-term debt 53,823
Less current portion of long-term debt (5,575)
Long-term debt, excluding current portion $ 48,248

In July 2002, National Welders entered into a Credit Agreement to

provide for available credit of $100 million secured by certain

assets of National Welders. The credit agreement provides for a

Term Loan A of $26.2 million, a Term Loan B of $21 million, a

Term Loan C of $8.8 million, and a revolving credit line of $44

million. Term Loan A is repayable in monthly amounts of $254

thousand through maturity in June 2007. The Term Loan B

matures in July 2006. Amounts outstanding at March 31, 2004

under Term Loans A and B were $21 million and $21 million,

respectively. There were no amounts borrowed or outstanding

under Term Loan C at March 31, 2004. The revolving credit line

matures in June 2006. Interest rates on the Credit Agreement are

variable and range from LIBOR plus 150 to 225 basis points based

on National Welders’ leverage ratio. The Credit Agreement con-

tains certain covenants which, among other things, limit the abili-

ty of National Welders to incur and guarantee new indebtedness,

subject National Welders to minimum net worth requirements,

and limit its capital expenditures, ownership changes, merger and

acquisition activity, and the payment of dividends. In addition,

the payment of dividends on National Welders common stock is

further limited by the joint venture agreement. The payment of

dividends on the common stock is subordinate to the payment of

the 5% dividend on the preferred stock. Additionally, the common

stock dividends must be declared by a vote of the joint venture’s

board of directors.

At March 31, 2004, the effective interest rate for the debt instru-

ments covered under the Credit Agreement was 3.09%. Based on

restrictions related to certain leverage ratios, National Welders had

additional borrowing capacity under its Credit Agreement of $47.3

million at March 31, 2004. Acquisition and other notes principally

consisted of a note payable to a bank that is secured by a produc-

tion facility and bears a fixed interest rate of 7%.

Aggregate Long-term Debt Maturities

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

(In thousands) National

March 31, Airgas, Inc. Welders Total

2005 $ 565 $ 5,575 $ 6,140
2006 7,286 5,000 12,286
2007 244,640 31,180 275,820
2008 81 11,992 12,073
2009 84 — 84
Thereafter 382,359 76 382,435

$ 635,015 $ 53,823 $ 688,838

Note 11
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Summarized below are the carrying and fair values of the

Company’s financial instruments at March 31, 2004 and 2003.

The fair value of the Company’s publicly traded financial instru-

ments is based on market pricing. The fair value of other non-

publicly traded financial instruments is based on estimates using

standard pricing models that take into account the present value of

future cash flows as of the balance sheet date. The computation of

fair values of these instruments is generally performed by the

Company. The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for

trade receivables and payables, accrued liabilities, accrued income

taxes, and short-term borrowings approximate fair value due to

the short-term nature of these instruments. Accordingly, these

items have been excluded from the table below.

2004 2004 2003 2003
(In thousands) Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
March 31, Value Value Value Value

Financial Instruments:
Revolving credit borrowings $ 26,689 $ 26,689 $145,143 $145,143
Senior subordinated notes 382,102 401,331 232,478 247,136
Term loan 70,000 70,000 87,500 87,500
Medium-term notes 106,730 103,980 185,202 186,024
Debt of grantor trust 41,030 41,030 — —
Acquisition and other notes 8,464 8,552 9,937 10,372
Interest rate swap 

agreements:
Fair value hedge-asset (13,832) (13,832) (17,681) (17,681)
Cash flow hedge-liability 2,380 2,380 4,452 4,452

 



variable interest rate swap agreements and the increased carrying

value of the hedged portions of the medium-term and senior sub-

ordinated notes at March 31, 2004 was $13.8 million. The changes

in the fair value of the swap agreements are offset by changes in

the fair value of the hedged portions of the medium-term and

senior subordinated notes.

The effect of these interest rate swap agreements was to adjust the

Company’s ratio of fixed to variable interest rates to 57% fixed

and 43% variable and to reduce interest expense by approximately

$4.7 million and $3.4 million in fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively,

and increase interest expense by $2.9 million in fiscal 2002.

National Welders’ Hedging Activities

The Company’s National Welders joint venture affiliate partici-

pates in one interest rate swap with a notional principal amount

of $21 million that effectively converts a corresponding amount of

variable interest rate debt (Term Loan B - see Note 10) to a fixed

rate debt instrument. The interest rate swap requires National

Welders to make interest payments based on a fixed rate of 6.72%

and receivable variable interest payments from its counterparty

based on a floating LIBOR rate of 1.09% at March 31, 2004. The

interest rate swap agreement was not entered into for trading pur-

poses. The consolidation of National Welders resulted in the addi-

tion of a cumulative unrealized loss on the National Welders

interest rate swap of $2.5 million and associated tax benefit of $1

million in “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss.”

Aggregate Maturities of Interest Rate Swap Agreements

Including National Welders, the aggregate maturities of the

Company’s interest rate swap agreements by type of swap for the

five years ending March 31, 2009 and thereafter are as follows:

(In thousands) Notional Principal Amounts

Years Ending March 31, Pay-Fixed Pay-Variable

2005 $ 40,000 $ —
2006 50,000 —
2007 21,000 50,000
2008 — —
2009 — —
Thereafter — 75,000

$ 111,000 $ 125,000

Note 13
Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell up to $175 million of qualifying trade

receivables. The agreement will expire in December 2005, but may

be renewed subject to renewal provisions contained in the agree-

ment. During fiscal 2004, the Company sold, net of its retained

interest, $1,696 million of trade receivables and remitted to bank

conduits, pursuant to a servicing agreement, $1,692 million in

collections on those receivables. The net proceeds were used to

reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facilities.

The amount of outstanding receivables under the agreement was

$162.6 million at March 31, 2004 and $158.9 million at March 31,

2003.
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The carrying and fair values of the National Welders joint ven-

ture’s financial instruments at March 31, 2004 are listed below:

(In thousands) 2004 2004

March 31, Carrying Value Fair Value

National Welders’ Financial Instruments
Revolving credit borrowings $ 5,507 $ 5,507
Term loans 42,142 42,142
Acquisitions and other notes 6,174 6,588
Interest rate swap agreement:

Cash flow hedge-liability 2,507 2,507

Note 12
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company manages its exposure to changes in market interest

rates. The Company’s involvement with derivative instruments is

limited to highly effective fixed and floating interest rate swap

agreements used to manage well-defined interest rate risk expo-

sures. Interest rate swap agreements are not entered into for trad-

ing purposes. As described in Note 2, the Company adopted SFAS

133 as of April 1, 2001.

At March 31, 2004, the Company had four fixed interest rate swap

agreements with a notional amount of $90 million that effectively

convert a corresponding amount of variable interest rate debt of a

consolidated grantor trust (see Note 10) and trade receivables

securitization agreement (see Note 13). The swap agreements

require the Company to make fixed interest payments based on an

average effective rate of 4.55% and receive variable interest pay-

ments from its counterparties based on three-month LIBOR

(average rate of 1.12% at March 31, 2004). The remaining terms

of these swap agreements range from between four and nineteen

months. In fiscal 2004 and 2003, the Company recorded a net

change in the fair value of the fixed interest rate swap agreements

of $2 million and $565 thousand as accumulated other compre-

hensive income, respectively. The net additional interest payments

made under these swap agreements during fiscal 2004 were recog-

nized in interest expense. Over the next 12 months,

the Company expects to reclassify $1.9 million of the deferred 

loss from accumulated other comprehensive loss to interest

expense as the related interest payments that are being hedged are 

recognized.

At March 31, 2004, the Company also had four variable interest

rate swap agreements with a notional amount of $125 million that

effectively converts a corresponding amount of fixed rate medi-

um-term and senior subordinated notes to variable rate debt. The

swap agreements require the Company to make variable interest

payments based primarily on six-month LIBOR (average rate of

3.16% at March 31, 2004) and receive fixed interest payments

from its counterparties based on an average effective rate of 8.36%

at March 31, 2004. The remaining terms of these swap agreements

range from between two and seven years. The fair value of these
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The transaction has been accounted for as a sale under the provi-

sions of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of

Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. Under the secu-

ritization agreement, eligible trade receivables are sold to bank

conduits through a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity,

which is consolidated for financial reporting purposes. The differ-

ence between the proceeds from the sale and the carrying value of

the receivables is recognized as “Discount on securitization of

trade receivables” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements

of Earnings and varies on a monthly basis depending on the

amount of receivables sold and market rates. The Company

retains a subordinated interest in the receivables sold, which is

recorded at the receivables’ previous carrying value. A subordinat-

ed retained interest of approximately $44 million and $45 million

is included in “Trade receivables” in the accompanying

Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-

tively. The Company’s retained interest is generally collected with-

in 60 days. On a monthly basis, management measures the fair

value of the retained interest at management’s best estimate of the

undiscounted expected future cash collections on the transferred

receivables. Changes in the fair value are recognized as bad debt

expense. Actual cash collections may differ from these estimates

and would directly affect the fair value of the retained interest. In

accordance with a servicing agreement, the Company continues to

service, administer and collect the trade receivables on behalf of

the bank conduits. The servicing fees charged to the bank con-

duits approximate the costs of collections.

Note 14
Stockholders’ Equity

(a) Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 200 million shares of

common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. At March 31,

2004, the number of shares of common stock outstanding was 73.4

million, excluding 1.5 million shares of common stock held as

treasury stock (923 thousand shares owned by National Welders),

and 2.2 million shares of common stock held in the Employee

Benefits Trust as described below. At March 31, 2003, the number of

shares of common stock outstanding was 72.4 million, excluding

547 thousand shares of common stock held as treasury stock and

3.4 million shares of common stock held by the Employee Benefits

Trust.

(b) Preferred Stock and Redeemable Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 20 million shares of pre-

ferred stock. Of the 20 million shares authorized, 200 thousand

shares have been designated as Series A Junior Participating

Preferred Stock and 200 thousand shares have been designated as

Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock (see Stockholder

Rights Plan below). At March 31, 2004 and 2003, no shares of the

preferred stock were issued or outstanding. The preferred stock may

be issued from time to time by the Company’s Board of Directors

in one or more series. The Board of Directors is authorized to fix

the dividend rights and terms, conversion rights, voting rights,

rights and terms of redemption, liquidation preferences, and any

other rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of any series of

preferred stock, and the number of shares constituting each such

series and designation thereof.

Additionally, the Company is authorized to issue 30 thousand

shares of redeemable preferred stock. At March 31, 2004 and 2003,

no shares of redeemable preferred stock were issued or outstanding.

(c) Dividends

On May 13, 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors declared the

first quarterly cash dividend in the Company’s history of $0.04 per

share, which was paid to stockholders on June 30, 2003.

Subsequently, at the end of each quarter during fiscal 2004, the

Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of

$0.04 per share. In addition, on May 25, 2004, the Company

announced that its Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly

cash dividend of $0.045 per share, representing a 13% increase

compared to the prior year quarterly dividend. The dividend is

payable June 30, 2004 to stockholders of record as of June 15, 2004.

Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid will

depend upon the Company’s earnings, financial condition, loan

covenants, capital requirements and other factors deemed relevant

by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.

(d) Shares in Employee Benefits Trust

In March 1999, the Company established a trust (“the Employee

Benefits Trust”) to fund certain future obligations of the Company’s

employee benefit and compensation plans. From inception through

fiscal 2001, the Company, pursuant to a Common Stock Purchase

Agreement, sold 7 million shares of common stock to the Employee

Benefits Trust. The Company holds promissory notes from the

Employee Benefits Trust in the amount of each purchase. Shares

held by the Employee Benefits Trust serve as collateral for the

promissory notes and are available to fund certain employee benefit

plan obligations as the promissory notes are repaid. The shares held

by the Employee Benefits Trust are not considered outstanding for

earnings per share purposes until they are released from serving as

collateral for the promissory notes. An independent third-party

financial institution serves as the Trustee. The Trustee votes or ten-

ders shares held by the trust in accordance with instructions

received from the participants in the employee benefit and compen-

sation plans funded by the trust. Approximately 1.2 million and 909

thousand shares were issued from the Employee Benefits Trust for

employee benefit programs during fiscal 2004 and 2003, respective-

ly. As of March 31, 2004, the Employee Benefits Trust held 2.2 mil-

lion shares of the Company’s common stock.

(e) Stockholder Rights Plan

Effective April 1, 1997, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a

stockholder rights plan (the “1997 Rights Plan”). Pursuant to the

1997 Rights Plan, the Board of Directors declared a dividend distri-

bution of one right for each share of common stock. Each right

entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one one-thou-

sandth of a share Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an

initial exercise price of $100 per share.

 



The Company’s stock-based compensation plans are described

below:

(a) Employee Stock Option Plans

In May 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 Stock Option Plan

(the “1997 Plan”) under which officers and key employees may be

granted options. The 1997 Plan replaced the previous 1984 Stock

Option Plan. In May 2002, the Company amended the 1997 Plan

to increase the total number of shares of common stock reserved

for sale upon the exercise of stock options and restricted stock

granted under the 1997 Plan from 8 million to 11.2 million. The

amendment was approved by the Company’s stockholders in 

July 2002.

Options granted under the 1997 Plan vest 25% annually and have

a maximum term of ten years. Under the 1997 Plan, at March 31,

2004, 2003 and 2002, 3.8 million, 4.7 million and 2.6 million

options, respectively, were available for issuance. In fiscal 2004,

2003 and 2002, 1.1 million, 1.2 million and 1.5 million options,

respectively, were granted with an exercise price equal to market

price at the date of grant. Options under the 1997 Plan are gener-

ally granted in May of each year.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of

grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the fol-

lowing weighted average assumptions used for fiscal 2004, 2003

and 2002 option grants, respectively: expected volatility of 40.1%,

40.3% and 48.8%, risk-free interest rate of 2.6%, 4.3% and 4.7%,

expected life of 7.3, 7.5, and 7.2 years, and a dividend yield of

0.83% (fiscal 2004). The weighted average fair value per share of

the options granted during fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $8.22,

$8.42 and $5.31, respectively.

The following table summarizes the activity of the employee stock

option plans during the three years ended March 31, 2004:

Exercise
Number Price Per

of Shares Share

March 31, 2002
Outstanding, beginning of year 8,305,961 $ 1.83 - $ 23.25
Granted 1,525,120 9.29
Exercised (1,049,173) 1.83 - 19.00
Expired (556,798) 5.50 - 22.00
March 31, 2003
Outstanding, beginning of year 8,225,110 3.30 - 23.25
Granted 1,168,250 16.52
Exercised (1,098,851) 3.30 - 17.31
Expired (109,353) 5.50 - 22.00
March 31, 2004
Outstanding, beginning of year 8,185,156 4.63 - 23.25
Granted 1,104,800 19.36
Exercised (1,364,769) 5.21 - 19.00
Expired (302,784) 5.21 - 22.00
Outstanding, end of year 7,622,403 $ 4.63 - $ 23.25

Options for 4.7 million, 5.1 million and 4.7 million shares were

exercisable at March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Rights become exercisable only following the acquisition by a per-

son or group of 15% (or 20% in the case of the Chairman and cer-

tain of his affiliates) or more of the Company’s common stock or

after the announcement of a tender offer or exchange offer to

acquire 15% (or 20% in the case of the Chairman and certain of his

affiliates) or more of the outstanding common stock. If such a per-

son or group acquires 15% or more (or 20% or more, as the case

may be) of the common stock, each right (other than such person’s

or group’s rights, which will become void) will entitle the holder to

purchase, at the exercise price, common stock having a market

value equal to twice the exercise price. In certain circumstances, the

rights may be redeemed by the Company. If not redeemed, they will

expire on April 1, 2007.

(f) Warrants

During fiscal 2002, the Company granted warrants to purchase

324,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to an outside con-

sulting firm for services rendered. The warrants have a term of

three years from the date of grant and have exercise prices in excess

of market value on the date of grant ranging from $11.98 to $18.78

per share. The aggregate value of the warrants on the dates of grant,

as determined by the Black-Scholes model, was $1.1 million, which

the Company expensed during fiscal 2002. No additional warrants

were granted during fiscal years 2004 or 2003.

Note 15
Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has elected to continue to account for its stock-

based compensation plans in accordance with Accounting

Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to

Employees, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-

Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS No. 148. Accordingly,

no compensation expense has been recognized for its stock option

and employee stock purchase plans. The following table illustrates

the effect on net income and earnings per share for fiscal 2004,

2003 and 2002 as if the Company had applied the fair value recog-

nition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation.

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002

Net earnings (loss), as reported $ 80,192 $ 68,105 $ (10,415)
Deduct: Total stock-based 

employee compensation 
expense determined under 
fair value based methods for 
all awards, net of related 
tax effects (5,469) (6,820) (6,670)

Pro forma net earnings (loss) $ 74,723 $ 61,285 $ (17,085)
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic – as reported $ 1.10 $ 0.97 $ (0.15)
Basic – pro forma $ 1.03 $ 0.87 $ (0.25)
Diluted – as reported $ 1.07 $ 0.94 $ (0.15)
Diluted – pro forma $ 1.00 $ 0.85 $ (0.24)
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The following table summarizes information about options out-

standing and exercisable for the employee and Board of Directors

stock option plans at March 31, 2004:

Options Outstanding
Exercise

Weighted Average Number Price Per
Remaining Life-Years Outstanding Share

6.03 1,391,886 $ 4.63 – $ 8.50
6.13 1,307,811 8.54 – 11.32
4.14 1,123,246 11.44 – 14.00
3.58 1,353,216 14.60 – 15.94
7.14 1,240,618 16.52 – 17.31
8.71 1,240,295 17.38 – 21.53
2.17 469,331 22.00 – 23.25
5.73 8,126,403 $ 4.63 – $ 23.25

Options Exercisable
Weighted Average

Number of Options Exercise Price
Exercisable Per Share

1,052,486 $ 6.42
688,541 9.62

1,112,496 12.39
1,336,155 15.60

435,477 16.75
156,501 18.97
468,581 22.05

5,250,237 $ 13.06

(c) Employee Stock Purchase Plans

In July 2003, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2003

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2003 Plan”) to encourage and

assist employees in acquiring an equity interest in the Company.

The 2003 Plan replaced the Company’s 2001 Employee Stock

Purchase Plan (the “2001 Plan”). During fiscal 2004, substantially

all of the authorized shares remaining under the 2001 Plan were

issued. During fiscal 2005, the 2001 Plan will be terminated and

the remaining authorized shares will be deregistered.

The 2003 Plan is authorized to issue up to 1.5 million shares of

common stock. Eligible employees may elect to have up to 15% of

their annual gross earnings withheld to purchase common stock

at 85% of the market value. Market value under the 2003 Plan is

defined as either the closing share price on the New York Stock

Exchange as of an employee’s enrollment date or the closing price

on the first business day of a fiscal quarter when the shares are

purchased, whichever is lower. An employee may lock-in a pur-

chase price for up to 12 months. The 2003 Plan is designed to

comply with the requirements of Sections 421 and 423 of the

Internal Revenue Code. The terms of the Company’s previous

2001 Plan were substantially the same as the 2003 Plan, except

that under the 2001 Plan, employees could lock-in a purchase

price for up to 27 months. During fiscal 2004 and 2003, the

Company issued 554 thousand shares and 809 thousand shares,

provided from the Employee Benefits Trust, to fund purchases

made by employees under the 2003 and 2001 Plans. The average

(b) Board of Directors Stock Option Plans

In May 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 Directors’ Stock

Option Plan (the “1997 Directors’ Plan”) under which directors of

the Company who are not employees may be granted options. The

1997 Directors’ Plan replaced the previous 1989 Stock Option

Plan for Directors. The 1997 Directors’ Plan reserved 500 thou-

sand shares for issuance. In May 2004, the Company amended 

the 1997 Directors’ Plan, subject to stockholder approval, to

increase the total number of shares of common stock reserved for

issuance under the 1997 Directors’ Plan from 500 thousand to 

800 thousand.

Under the 1997 Directors’ Plan, at March 31, 2004, 49,500 options

were available for issuance. During fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002,

60,000, 64,000 and 80,000 options, respectively, were granted with

an exercise price equal to the market price at the date of grant and

have a maximum term of ten years.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of

grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the fol-

lowing weighted average assumptions used for fiscal 2004, 2003

and 2002 option grants, respectively: expected volatility of 40.5%,

41.5% and 51.1%, risk-free interest rate of 3.2%, 3.6% and 4.6%,

expected life of 5.9, 5.9 and 5.7 years and a dividend yield of

0.84% (fiscal 2004). The weighted average fair value per share of

the stock options granted during fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 was

$7.58, $6.70 and $6.61, respectively.

The following table summarizes the activity of the Board of

Directors stock option plans during the three years ended March

31, 2004:

Exercise
Number Price Per

of Shares Share

March 31, 2002
Outstanding and exercisable, 

beginning of year 428,500 $ 2.09 – $ 19.25
Granted 80,000 12.40
Exercised (32,000) 2.09 – 13.82
March 31, 2003
Outstanding and exercisable, 

beginning of year 476,500 4.16 – 19.25
Granted 64,000 14.85
Exercised (48,000) 4.16 – 8.56
March 31, 2004
Outstanding and exercisable, 

beginning of year 492,500 5.25 – 19.25
Granted 60,000 18.97
Exercised (48,500) 18.01 – 22.30
Outstanding and exercisable, 

end of year 504,000 $ 5.25 – $ 19.25

Options granted to the Board of Directors are exercisable in full as

of the date of grant.
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alent. If the preferred stockholders elect to exchange their shares

for Airgas common stock, the Company is obligated to provide

the necessary shares to the joint venture by capital contribution or

other means the Company reasonably deems appropriate. The

Company may purchase shares on the open market or may issue

new or treasury shares to meet its exchange obligation. The pre-

ferred stockholders may also elect to retain their interest in the

preferred stock beyond June 30, 2009.

FIN 46R addresses the consolidation of variable interest entities.

Variable interest entities are defined as corporations, partnerships,

trusts, or any other legal structure used for business purposes, and

by design, the holders of equity instruments in those entities lack

one of the characteristics of a financial controlling interest. FIN

46R changes previous accounting practice by introducing the con-

cept of a “Primary Beneficiary” and requiring variable interest

entities to be consolidated by the party deemed to be the Primary

Beneficiary (i.e., the party that is subject to a majority of the risk

of loss from the variable interest entity’s activities or entitled to

receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns or both).

The Company determined that National Welders met the defini-

tion of a “Variable Interest Entity” under FIN 46R. Additionally,

the Company, as the only common stockholder, was determined

to be the Primary Beneficiary of the joint venture. Therefore,

effective December 31, 2003, the Company elected to adopt FIN

46R, as it applies to the joint venture, and consolidated National

Welders. As permitted by FIN 46R, the Company applied 

the interpretation prospectively from the date of adoption (prior 

periods not restated). Therefore, at December 31, 2003, the 

consolidation of National Welders only affected the balance sheet.

There was no cumulative effect adjustment as a result of the 

consolidation. The consolidation had the effect of eliminating the

Company’s $62 million investment in National Welders and

recording the joint venture’s assets, liabilities and a corresponding

minority interest liability. The minority interest liability represents

the redemption value of the joint venture’s preferred stock 

($57 million), net of a $21 million note receivable, bearing interest

at 8%, due from the preferred stockholders. At March 31, 2004,

National Welders’, impact on the consolidated balance sheet is

summarized below:

(In thousands) Increase/(Decrease)

Current assets $ 29,922
Non-current assets 109,750

Total assets $ 139,672
Current liabilities $ 21,217
Non-current liabilities 82,929
Minority interest 36,191
Common stockholder’s equity (665)

Total liabilities and stockholder’s equity $ 139,672

purchase price per share in fiscal 2004 and 2003 was $12.44 and

$11.06, respectively. During fiscal 2002, the Company also issued

1.1 million shares, provided from the Employee Benefits Trust, to

fund purchases made by employees at an average price of $6.58

per share.

Compensation expense under SFAS 123 is measured based on the

fair value of the employees’ option to purchase shares of common

stock at the grant date and is recognized over the future periods in

which the related employee service is rendered. The fair value of

the employees’ option to purchase shares of common stock is esti-

mated using the Black-Scholes model. The assumptions used to

estimate the fair value of the employees’ option to purchase shares

of common stock at grant dates in fiscal 2004 and 2002, respec-

tively, were: average expected volatility of 31.1% and 61%, average

risk-free interest rate of 0.96% and 2.6%, dividend yield of 0.87%

(fiscal 2004), and expected option terms ranging from 3 to 6

months for the 2003 Plan and 3 to 27 months for previous

employee stock purchase plans. Had the Company adopted SFAS

123, compensation expense related to the Employee Stock

Purchase Plans would have been $1.5 million, $3.6 million and

$4.1 million in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Fiscal 2003

expense is related to the fiscal 2002 grant and represents the value

of the options as they vest over the employee service period.

Note 16
Consolidated and Unconsolidated Affiliates

With the adoption of FIN 46R (Note 2), the Company’s previously

unconsolidated joint venture affiliate, National Welders, became a

consolidated affiliate. The Company’s other joint venture affiliates

were not impacted by FIN 46R. The Company has participated in

a joint venture with National Welders since June 1996. National

Welders is a producer and distributor of industrial gases based in

Charlotte, North Carolina. National Welders owns and operates 46

branch stores, two acetylene plants, a specialty gas lab, and three

air separation plants that produce all of the joint venture’s oxygen

and nitrogen and over 50% of its argon requirements. The joint

venture also distributes medical and specialty gases, process chem-

icals and welding equipment and supplies.

Ownership interests in National Welders consist of voting com-

mon stock and voting redeemable preferred stock with a 5%

annual dividend. The Company owns 100% of the joint venture’s

common stock, which represents a 50% voting interest. A family

holds approximately 3.2 million shares of redeemable preferred

stock and controls the balance of the voting interest. Between June

30, 2006 and June 30, 2009, the preferred stockholders have the

option to redeem their preferred shares for cash at a price of

$17.78 per share or to tender them to the joint venture in

exchange for approximately 2.3 million shares of Airgas common

stock. If Airgas’ common stock has a market value of $24.45 per

share, the common stock and cash redemption options are equiv-
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The assets and liabilities of National Welders at March 31, 2004

include $55.1 million of goodwill and $53.8 million of debt,

which is non-recourse to the Company.

The Company recognized $4.4 million of “Equity in Earnings of

Unconsolidated Affiliates” related to National Welders through the

nine-months ended December 31, 2003. With the prospective

adoption permitted by FIN 46R, the Company’s proportionate

share of the joint venture’s operating results for the fourth fiscal

quarter was not reflected as “Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated

Affiliates.” Rather, the fourth fiscal quarter operating results of the

joint venture were reflected broadly across the income statement

with minority interest expense reflecting the quarterly dividend

on the joint venture’s redeemable preferred stock, net of interest

earned on the note receivable from the preferred stockholders. For

both the fourth quarter and fiscal year 2004, National Welders

contributed $39.2 million to sales, $3.4 million to operating

income, $291 thousand of minority interest expense and $1.2 mil-

lion in net earnings. The liabilities of the joint venture are non-

recourse to the Company. Likewise, the cash flows in excess of a

management fee paid by National Welders are not available to the

Company. For the fourth quarter and fiscal year 2004, National

Welders contributed net cash from operating activities of $9.8

million of which $249 thousand was paid to the Company.

Summarized below are pro forma results of National Welders that

would have been reflected had the Company consolidated the

joint venture as of April 1, 2001. Since the Company had previ-

ously recorded its proportionate share of the operating results of

National Welders under the equity method of accounting, the

consolidation of National Welders’ did not impact the Company’s

net earnings.

Pro forma results of National Welders:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $ 147,604 $ 142,056 $ 132,148
Operating income 11,337 11,151 11,043
Minority interest expense 1,170 1,170 1,170
Net earnings available to 

common stockholder $ 5,617 $ 2,684 $ 2,861

In fiscal 2004, National Welders recognized a non-recurring, after-

tax insurance gain of $1.7 million.

The Company accounts for investments in unconsolidated affili-

ates by the equity method of accounting, as described in Note

1(b). The Company’s investment in its unconsolidated affiliates

totaled approximately $6.3 million and $66 million at March 31,

2004 and 2003, respectively. Unconsolidated affiliates in Fiscal

2003 included a $59 million investment in National Welders,

which was consolidated in Fiscal 2004. Unconsolidated affiliates at

March 31, 2004 principally consist of a 50% joint venture interest

in AC Industries, which is a carbon dioxide production plant

reported under All Other Operations in Note 24. The Company’s

share of earnings from AC Industries was $830 thousand; $1.1

million and $1.0 million for the years ended March 31, 2004,

2003, and 2002, respectively.

Note 17
Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, consists of:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002

Interest expense $ 43,028 $ 47,272 $ 48,035
Interest and finance charge 

income (671) (897) (1,022)
$ 42,357 $ 46,375 $ 47,013

Note 18
Income Taxes

Earnings before income taxes and the cumulative effect of a

change in accounting principle were derived from the following

sources:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002

United States $ 122,641 $ 106,258 $ 74,947
Foreign 5,065 3,046 3,444

$ 127,706 $ 109,304 $ 78,391

Income tax expense (benefit) consists of:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002

Current:
Federal $ 21,784 $ 30,552 $ (6,693)
Foreign 2,120 1,509 1,534
State 438 483 387

24,342 32,544 (4,772)
Deferred:

Federal 19,584 6,312 32,348
Foreign 198 (640) 329
State 3,390 2,983 1,901

23,172 8,655 34,578
$ 47,514 $ 41,199 $ 29,806

Pursuant to an accelerated depreciation provision of a fiscal 2002

change in the tax law, the Company anticipated receiving a tax

refund of approximately $19 million during fiscal 2003 related to

the assets acquired in the Air Products acquisition. After further

review, it was concluded that the Company would not be eligible

for the refund in fiscal 2003, but instead would receive the cash

benefit over the next four years. As a result, an adjustment was

made in the first quarter of fiscal 2003 that resulted in approxi-

mately a $19 million reclassification between current and deferred

income taxes. The adjustment did not impact net earnings or

operating cash flows.
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In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management

considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or

all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate

realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation

of future taxable income during the periods in which those tem-

porary differences become deductible. Management considers the

reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable

income in making this assessment. Based upon the level of histori-

cal taxable income and projections for future taxable income over

the periods which the deferred tax assets are deductible, manage-

ment believes it is more likely than not that the Company will

realize the benefits of these deductible differences, net of the 

existing valuation allowances, at March 31, 2004. Valuation

allowances primarily relate to certain state tax net operating loss

carryforwards.

The Internal Revenue Service conducted an examination of the

Company’s federal income tax return for the fiscal years ended

March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001. The results of this examination

had no material effect on the Company’s net earnings, financial

position or liquidity.

Note 19
Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “401(k)

plan”) covering substantially all full-time employees. Under the

terms of the 401(k) plan, the Company makes matching contribu-

tions up to two percent of participants’ wages. Amounts expensed

under the 401(k) plan for fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002 were $3.9

million, $5 million and $4.7 million, respectively.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in multi-employ-

er pension and post-retirement plans, which provide defined ben-

efits to union employees. Contributions are made to the plans in

accordance with negotiated labor contracts. If the Company elect-

ed to withdraw from these plans at March 31, 2004, the withdraw-

al liability would have been approximately $3.2 million. Amounts

expensed under the pension plans for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 

2002 were $686 thousand, $679 thousand and $642 thousand,

respectively.

Effective January 2002, the Company offered eligible employees

the opportunity to participate in a non-qualified deferred com-

pensation plan (the “Plan”). The Plan allows eligible employees to

defer a portion of their compensation until their retirement.

The Company has elected to fund the plan with Company owned

life insurance policies taken out on the plan participants.

The costs associated with the Plan during fiscal 2004 and 2003

were $135 thousand and $64 thousand, respectively. At March 31,

2004, the Company had a liability of $3 million related to com-

pensation deferred under the Plan. At March 31, 2004, the

Company also had life insurance policies with a cash surrender

value of $3 million available to fund the plan liability. Subsequent

to March 31, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors elected to

terminate the Plan.

Significant differences between taxes computed at the federal

statutory rate and the provision for income taxes were:

Years Ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002

Taxes at U.S. federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase in income taxes resulting 
from:

State income taxes, net of 
federal benefit 2.2% 2.1% 1.5%

Divestitures — 0.4% 1.8%
Equity accounting for 

unconsolidated affiliates (0.9%) (0.6%) (1.2%)
Other, net 0.9% 0.8% 0.9%

37.2% 37.7% 38.0%

The tax effects of cumulative temporary differences that gave rise

to the significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities

were as follows:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2004 2003

Deferred Tax Assets:
Inventories $ 6,021 $ 5,637
Accounts receivable (1,044) (589)
Deferred rental income 2,125 1,872
Insurance reserves 10,008 7,320
Special charges (Note 4) 912 1,817
Litigation settlement and other reserves 210 1,913
Net operating loss carryforwards 38,458 31,228
Other 1,096 1,390
Valuation allowance (9,922) (9,646)

47,864 40,942
Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Plant and equipment (256,955) (204,645)
Intangible assets (19,647) (14,141)
Other (7,239) (13,608)

(283,841) (232,394)
Net deferred tax liability $(235,977) $ (191,452)

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities have been netted for

presentation purposes. Non-current tax assets and non-current 

tax liabilities have also been netted. Deferred tax assets and liabili-

ties are reflected in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets 

as follows:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2004 2003

Current deferred tax asset, net $ 21,054 $ 17,688
Non-current deferred tax liability, net (257,031) (209,140)
Net deferred tax liability $(235,977) $ (191,452)

The Company has recorded tax benefits amounting to $6.2 mil-

lion, $5.8 million, and $4.3 million in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002,

respectively, resulting from the exercise of stock options. This ben-

efit has been recorded in capital in excess of par value.
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At March 31, 2004, future minimum lease payments under non-

cancelable operating leases are as follows:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31,

2005 $ 39,329
2006 31,767
2007 24,107
2008 17,815
2009 10,378
Thereafter 10,992

$ 134,388

Note 22
Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Legal

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, the Company settled a lawsuit

brought in 1996 by Praxair, Inc. alleging tortious interference with

a right of first refusal in connection with the Company’s joint

venture investment in National Welders (see Note 16). As a result

of the settlement, Praxair agreed to early termination of the right

of first refusal, and in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, the

Company recorded a charge to earnings, net of previously estab-

lished reserves related to the litigation, of $8.5 million.

The Company is involved in various legal and regulatory proceed-

ings that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business and

have not been fully adjudicated. These actions, when ultimately

concluded and determined, will not, in the opinion of manage-

ment, have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s consoli-

dated financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

(b) Insurance Coverage

The Company has established insurance programs to cover work-

ers’ compensation, business automobile, general and product lia-

bility claims. These programs have self-insured retention of $500

thousand per occurrence and an annual aggregate limit of $1.7

million for claims in excess of $500 thousand. The Company

believes its insurance reserves are adequate. The Company accrues

estimated losses using actuarial models and assumptions based on

historical loss experience. The nature of the Company’s business

may subject it to product and general liability lawsuits. To the

extent that the Company is subject to claims that exceed its liabili-

ty insurance coverage of $200 million, such suits could have a

material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position,

results of operations or liquidity.

Note 20
Related Parties

Effective with the consolidation of National Welders on December

31, 2003, National Welders has been reflected as part of the

Company’s consolidated results and is no longer considered a

related party. Transactions between the Company and National

Welders have been eliminated in consolidation. The related party

transactions between the Company and National Welders present-

ed below relate to historical periods prior to December 31, 2003.

During the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2002, National

Welders (see Note 16), an unconsolidated equity affiliate, paid

$4.7 million and $3.8 million, respectively, to the Company for gas

products, hardgoods and services. In addition, National Welders

sold gas products and hardgoods to the Company in the amounts

of $1.1 million and $1.1 thousand in fiscal 2003 and 2002, respec-

tively. In connection with the Praxair litigation (see Note 22),

the Company reimbursed National Welders for legal fees of $482

thousand in fiscal 2002.

The Company paid $9.8 million, $9 million and $7.7 million to

AC Industries (see Note 16), an unconsolidated equity affiliate, for

the purchase of liquid carbon dioxide during the years ended

March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In addition, the

Company had a net payable balance to AC Industries totaling $1.0

million and $1.4 million at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Company purchases and sells goods and services in the ordi-

nary course of business with certain corporations in which some

of its directors are officers. The amounts of the transactions were

not material to the Company.

Note 21
Leases

The Company leases certain distribution facilities, fleet vehicles

and equipment under long-term operating leases with varying

terms. Most leases contain renewal options and in some instances,

purchase options. Rentals under these long-term leases for the

years ended March 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, amounted to $56

million, $54.7 million, and $45.4 million, respectively. Certain

operating facilities are leased at market rates from employees of

the Company who were previous owners of businesses acquired.

Outstanding capital lease obligations and the related capital assets

are not material to the consolidated balance sheets at March 31,

2004 and 2003. Associated with the fleet vehicle operating leases,

the Company guarantees a residual value of $13.8 million, repre-

senting approximately 25% of the original cost.
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(c) Supply Agreements

The Company purchases industrial, medical and specialty gases

pursuant to requirements contracts from national and regional

producers of industrial gases. In February 2002, the Company

entered into a 15-year take-or-pay supply agreement under which

Air Products will supply at least 35% of the Company’s bulk liquid

nitrogen, oxygen and argon requirements, exclusive of the volumes

purchased under the new BOC supply agreement noted below.

Additionally, the Company will purchase helium from Air

Products under the terms of the supply agreement. Based on the

volume of fiscal 2004 purchases, the Air Products supply agree-

ment represents approximately $42 million in annual liquid bulk

gas purchases. Effective December 2002, the Company entered

into a 3-year take-or-pay supply agreement with BOC to purchase

liquid nitrogen, oxygen and argon. Under the BOC supply agree-

ment, BOC reserves specified production volumes at certain plants

and the Company has agreed to purchase at least 75% of those

volumes. Purchases under the BOC supply agreement are antici-

pated to be approximately $10 million annually. The BOC supply

agreement will be replaced with a new BOC supply agreement

upon closing of the acquisition of the BOC packaged gas business.

In addition, the Company is a party to other long-term take-or-

pay supply agreements primarily for the purchase of liquid carbon

dioxide, representing approximately $14 million, or 20% of the

Company’s annual carbon dioxide requirements. The Air

Products, BOC and certain liquid carbon dioxide supply agree-

ments contain market pricing subject to certain economic indices

and market analysis. The Company believes the minimum product

purchases under the agreements are well within the Company’s

normal product purchases.

(d) Commitments and Contingencies of National Welders

National Welders is involved in various claims and legal actions

arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of

National Welders’ management, the ultimate disposition of these

matters will not have a material or adverse effect on the entity’s

financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

National Welders is self-insured for medical and workers’ compen-

sation claims in North Carolina and South Carolina. Medical

claims are self-insured up to a $100 thousand limit per person

annually with an aggregate liability of $4 million. Workers’ com-

pensation claims are self-insured up to $250 thousand per person

annually with an aggregate liability of $575 thousand. Provisions

for expected future payments for medical and workers’ compensa-

tion are accrued based on estimates of the aggregate liability for

claims incurred plus an estimate for incurred but not reported

claims using historical experience.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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Note 23
Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid for interest expense and income taxes was as follows:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002

Interest $ 46,115 $ 55,853 $ 42,165
Income taxes (net of refunds) 18,897 5,344 21,004

Significant non-cash investing and financing transactions were as

follows:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002

Acquisition liabilities assumed $ 7,620 $ 2,606 $ 9,917

Cash flows, in excess of a management fee, associated with the

Company’s consolidated affiliate, National Welders (see Note 16),

are not available for the general use of the Company. Rather these

cash flows are used by National Welders for operations, capital

expenditures, and acquisitions and to satisfy financial obligations,

which are non-recourse to the Company. As a result of the con-

solidation of National Welders effective December 31, 2003, the

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows at March 31, 2004 reflects

the following fourth quarter sources and uses of cash associated

with National Welders:

2004

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 9,831
Net cash used by investing activities (1,783)
Net cash used by financing activities (8,048)
Management fee paid to the Company,

which is eliminated in consolidation 249
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Note 24
Summary by Business Segment

The Company aggregates its operations, based on products and

services, into two reportable segments, Distribution and All Other

Operations. The Distribution segment’s principal products are

packaged and small bulk gases, rent on gas cylinders and welding

equipment, process chemicals and hardgoods. Gas sales include

industrial, medical and specialty gases such as: nitrogen, oxygen,

argon, helium, acetylene, carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, hydrogen,

welding gases, ultra high purity grades and special application

blends. Rent is derived from gas cylinders, cryogenic liquid contain-

ers, bulk storage tanks, tube trailers and through the rental of weld-

ing equipment. Hardgoods consist of welding supplies and

equipment, safety products, and industrial tools and supplies.

During fiscal year 2004, the Distribution segment accounted for

approximately 90% of consolidated sales.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company renamed its Gas

Operations segment as “All Other Operations” and disclosed the

operating results of National Welders with the results of business

units previously reported under the Gas Operations segment.

These business units produce and distribute dry ice, carbon diox-

ide, nitrous oxide and specialty gases. The operating results of

the Company’s air separation plants and its six national specialty

gas labs are also reported under this segment. The National Welders

joint venture structure, which limits the Company’s control over

the National Welders operations and cash flows, is the primary fac-

tor that led the Company to conclude that National Welders is most

appropriately reflected in the All Other Operations segment.

The business units reflected in the All Other Operations segment

individually are not material enough to meet the thresholds to 

be reported as separate business segments. The elimination entries

represent intercompany sales from the Company’s All Other

Operations segment to its Distribution segment.

The Company’s operations are predominantly in the United States.

The Company’s customer base is diverse and sales are not depend-

ent on a single or small group of customers.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those

described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(Note 1). Additionally, Corporate operating expenses are allocated

to each segment based on sales dollars. However, sales associated

with National Welders are excluded from the Corporate operating

expense allocation to All Other Operations as National Welders

maintains its own corporate functions. Corporate assets have been

allocated to the Distribution segment, intercompany sales are

recorded on the same basis as sales to third parties, and intercom-

pany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. See Note 3 for

the impact of acquisitions and divestitures on the operating results

of each segment.

Management utilizes more than one measurement and multiple

views of data to measure segment performance and to allocate

resources to the segments. However, the dominant measurements

are consistent with the Company’s consolidated financial state-

ments and, accordingly, are reported on the same basis herein.
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All Other
(In thousands) Distribution Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2004
Gas and rent $ 882,585 $ 216,166 $ (39,944)$ 1,058,807
Hardgoods 819,886 19,760 (2,985) 836,661
Total net sales 1,702,471 235,926 (42,929) 1,895,468

Cost of products sold, 
excluding depreciation 
expense 845,440 106,170 (42,929) 908,681

Selling, distribution, and 
administrative expenses 648,919 82,908 — 731,827

Depreciation expense 67,407 15,160 — 82,567
Amortization expense 5,032 357 — 5,389
Special charges (recoveries) (776) — — (776)
Operating income 136,449 31,331 — 167,780
Equity in earnings of 

unconsolidated affiliates 4,383 830 — 5,213

Assets 1,522,126 408,953 — 1,931,079
Investment in 

unconsolidated affiliates 1,178 5,114 — 6,292
Capital expenditures 81,247 12,502 — 93,749

All Other
(In thousands) Distribution Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2003
Gas and rent $ 863,975 $ 178,622 $ (37,067) $ 1,005,530
Hardgoods 778,101 5,227 (1,894) 781,434
Total net sales 1,642,076 183,849 (38,961) 1,786,964

Cost of products sold, 
excluding depreciation 
expense 806,320 82,957 (38,961) 850,316

Selling, distribution, 
and administrative 
expenses 634,580 63,648 — 698,228

Depreciation expense 62,071 11,411 — 73,482
Amortization expense 5,877 485 — 6,362
Special charges 2,694 — — 2,694
Operating income 130,534 25,348 — 155,882
Equity in earnings of 

unconsolidated affiliates 2,682 1,086 — 3,768

Assets 1,494,363 205,880 — 1,700,243
Investment in 

unconsolidated affiliates 60,323 5,634 — 65,957
Capital expenditures 51,751 16,218 — 67,969

All Other
(In thousands) Distribution Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2002
Gas and rent $ 707,435 $ 170,687 $ (31,163) $ 846,959
Hardgoods 786,832 2,907 (651) 789,088
Total net sales 1,494,267 173,594 (31,814) 1,636,047

Cost of products sold, 
excluding depreciation 
expense 770,094 80,473 (31,814) 818,753

Selling, distribution, 
and administrative 
expenses 559,468 59,848 — 619,316

Depreciation expense 53,701 11,084 — 64,785
Amortization expense 7,574 586 — 8,160
Operating income 103,430 21,603 — 125,033
Equity in earnings of 

unconsolidated affiliates 2,878 957 — 3,835

Assets 1,520,492 196,565 — 1,717,057
Investment in 

unconsolidated affiliates 58,579 6,047 — 64,626
Capital expenditures 52,414 5,883 — 58,297

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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Note 25
Supplementary Information (Unaudited) 

This table summarizes the unaudited results of operations for each

quarter of fiscal 2004 and 2003:

(In thousands, except
per share amounts) First Second Third Fourth

2004
Net sales (b) $ 461,056 $ 460,452 $ 451,869 $ 522,091
Operating income (b) 40,660 40,761 40,287 46,072
Net earnings (b),(c) 18,528 19,113 20,891 21,660
Basic earnings per 

share (a),(b),(c) $ .26 $ .26 $ .29 $ .29
Diluted earnings per 

share (a),(b),(c) $ .25 $ .26 $ .28 $ .29

2003
Net sales $ 457,668 $ 451,053 $ 435,339 $ 442,904
Operating income (d) 36,210 42,424 38,090 39,158
Net earnings (d) 14,044 19,200 16,696 18,165
Basic earnings per 

share (a),(d) $ .20 $ .27 $ .24 $ .26
Diluted earnings per 

share (a),(d) $ .20 $ .27 $ .23 $ .25

(a) Earnings per share calculations for each of the quarters are based on the weight-
ed average number of shares outstanding in each period. Therefore, the sum of
the quarters does not necessarily equal the full year earnings per share.

(b) As discussed in the Notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements,
operating income and net earnings for fiscal 2004 include a fourth quarter special
charge recovery of $776 thousand ($480 thousand after tax) reflecting lower esti-
mates of the ultimate cost of prior years’ restructuring activities and a second
quarter insurance-related loss of $2.8 million ($1.7 million after tax), representing
the Company’s self-insurance retention associated with fire-related losses. Fiscal
2004 results also include the fourth quarter consolidation of the National Welders
joint venture in accordance with FIN 46R. National Welders contributed $39.2 mil-
lion of sales and $3.4 million of operating income in fiscal 2004. 

(c) As discussed in the Notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, net
earnings for fiscal 2004 also include a third quarter $1.7 million non-recurring
insurance gain recognized by National Welders.

(d) As discussed in the Notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements,
operating income and net earnings for fiscal 2003 include a first quarter special
charge of $2.7 million ($1.7 million after tax) consisting of a restructuring charge
related to the integration of the business acquired from Air Products in fiscal
2002, and costs related to the consolidation of certain of the Company’s hard-
goods procurement functions.

Note 26
Subsequent Event

On April 2, 2004, the Company announced that it signed a definitive

asset purchase agreement to acquire most of the U.S. packaged gas

business of BOC in a transaction valued up to $200 million. The

transaction is expected to close July 30, 2004 and includes about 120

locations in 21 states involved in the distribution of packaged indus-

trial, medical and specialty gases, as well as welding hardgoods. In

fiscal 2003, the packaged gas business of BOC, subject to the acqui-

sition, generated approximately $240 million in sales of which

approximately 65% was gas and rent. The acquired operations will

be integrated with the existing business units of the Company’s

Distribution segment.

Note 27
Condensed Consolidating Financial Information of
Subsidiary Guarantors

The obligations of the Company under its senior subordinated

notes (“the Notes”) are guaranteed by the Company’s domestic

subsidiaries (the “Guarantors”). The guarantees are made on a

joint and several basis. The Company’s joint venture operations,

foreign holdings and bankruptcy remote special purpose entity

(the “Non-guarantors”) are not guarantors of the Notes. Effective

December 31, 2003, the Company adopted FIN 46R with respect to

its National Welders joint venture (see Notes 2 and 16). As permit-

ted by FIN 46R, the Company applied the interpretation prospec-

tively (prior periods not restated). Accordingly, the Company’s

investment and equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates

associated with the National Welders joint venture will no longer

be reported under the Parent in the accompanying condensed con-

solidating financial statements. At December 31, 2003, the Parent

company’s “Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates” associated

with National Welders was reclassified to “Investment in

Subsidiaries” and the assets, liabilities, and minority interest of the

joint venture were reflected in the Condensed Consolidating

Balance Sheet with the Non-guarantors. For the quarter ended

March 31, 2004, the operating results of the joint venture and cor-

responding minority interest expense were reflected in the

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings with the Non-

guarantors. The claims of creditors of Non-guarantor subsidiaries

have priority over the rights of the Company to receive dividends

or distributions from such subsidiaries. Presented below is supple-

mentary condensed consolidating financial information for the

Company, the Guarantors and the Non-guarantors as of March 31,

2004 and March 31, 2003 and for the years ended March 31, 2004,

2003 and 2002.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2004 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Assets

Current Assets:

Trade receivables, net $ — $ 5,263 $ 101,750 $ — $ 107,013

Intercompany 

receivable/(payable) — (7,471) 7,471 — —

Inventories, net — 157,991 12,309 — 170,300

Deferred income tax asset, net 9,391 10,679 984 — 21,054

Prepaid expenses and other 

current assets 4,839 18,422 5,202 — 28,463

Total current assets 14,230 184,884 127,716 — 326,830

Plant and equipment, net 26,906 868,400 138,620 — 1,033,926

Goodwill — 436,505 67,702 — 504,207

Other intangible assets, net 304 19,187 242 — 19,733

Investments in unconsolidated

affiliates 1,117 5,175 — — 6,292

Investments in subsidiaries 1,481,948 — — (1,481,948) —

Intercompany 

receivable/(payable) (198,326) 168,423 29,903 — —

Other non-current assets 30,634 6,619 2,838 — 40,091

Total assets $ 1,356,813 $ 1,689,193 $ 367,021 $(1,481,948) $ 1,931,079

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, trade $ 4,298 $ 100,239 $ 9,766 $ — $ 114,303

Accrued expenses and other 

current liabilities 49,870 60,604 11,552 — 122,026

Current portion of long-term debt — 467 5,673 — 6,140

Total current liabilities 54,168 161,310 26,991 — 242,469

Long-term debt, excluding

current portion 607,832 6,185 68,681 — 682,698

Deferred income tax liability, net (4,115) 223,409 37,737 — 257,031

Other non-current liabilities 5,687 10,933 4,169 — 20,789

Minority interest in subsidiaries — — 36,191 — 36,191

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, no par value — — — — —

Common stock, par value $.01

per share 772 — — — 772

Capital in excess of par value 233,574 786,534 71,956 (858,490) 233,574

Retained earnings 481,677 500,822 122,636 (623,458) 481,677

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,596) — (970) — (2,566)

Treasury stock (4,288) — (370) — (4,658)

Employee benefits trust (16,898) — — — (16,898)

Total stockholders’ equity 693,241 1,287,356 193,252 (1,481,948) 691,901

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,356,813 $ 1,689,193 $ 367,021 $(1,481,948) $ 1,931,079
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination

March 31, 2003 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Assets

Current Assets:

Trade receivables, net $ — $ 4,543 $ 66,803 $ — $ 71,346

Intercompany 

receivable/(payable) — (8,032) 8,032 — —

Inventories, net — 148,088 3,317 — 151,405

Deferred income tax asset, net 7,242 10,446 — — 17,688

Prepaid expenses and other 

current assets 12,899 16,240 1,004 — 30,143

Total current assets 20,141 171,285 79,156 — 270,582

Plant and equipment, net 19,302 828,323 21,867 — 869,492

Goodwill — 426,474 11,235 — 437,709

Other intangible assets, net 545 19,070 217 — 19,832

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates 60,239 5,718 — — 65,957

Investments in subsidiaries 1,347,897 — — (1,347,897) —

Intercompany 

receivable/(payable) (186,852) 182,610 4,242 — —

Other non-current assets 30,549 5,099 1,023 — 36,671

Total assets $ 1,291,821 $ 1,638,579 $ 117,740 $(1,347,897) $ 1,700,243

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, trade $ 2,406 $ 80,487 $ 2,482 $ — $ 85,375

Accrued expenses and other 

current liabilities 54,737 64,320 2,235 — 121,292

Current portion of long-term debt — 2,141 88 — 2,229

Total current liabilities 57,143 146,948 4,805 — 208,896

Long-term debt, excluding

current portion 629,934 6,978 21,119 — 658,031

Deferred income tax liability, net 1,385 202,556 5,199 — 209,140

Other non-current liabilities 6,426 20,482 335 — 27,243

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, no par value — — — — —

Common stock, par value $.01

per share 764 — — — 764

Capital in excess of par value 216,275 838,340 8,224 (846,564) 216,275

Retained earnings 413,286 423,491 78,280 (501,771) 413,286

Accumulated other

comprehensive loss (3,302) (216) (222) 438 (3,302)

Treasury stock (4,289) — — — (4,289)

Employee benefits trust (25,801) — — — (25,801)

Total stockholders’ equity 596,933 1,261,615 86,282 (1,347,897) 596,933

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,291,821 $ 1,638,579 $ 117,740 $(1,347,897) $ 1,700,243
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination

Year Ended March 31, 2004 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net sales $ — $ 1,831,006 $ 64,462 $ — $ 1,895,468

Costs and Expenses:

Costs of products sold
(excluding depreciation) — 885,137 23,544 — 908,681

Selling, distribution and
administrative expenses 53,345 643,051 35,431 — 731,827

Depreciation 6,513 71,122 4,932 — 82,567
Amortization 113 5,261 15 — 5,389
Special charges (recoveries) — (776) — — (776)

Operating Income (Loss) (59,971) 227,211 540 — 167,780

Interest (expense) income, net (58,414) 17,932 (1,875) — (42,357)
(Discount) gain on

securitization of trade receivables — (73,022) 69,758 — (3,264)
Other income (expense), net 50,180 (50,646) 1,091 — 625
Equity in earnings of 

unconsolidated affiliates 4,365 848 — — 5,213
Minority interest (expense) — — (291) — (291)
Earnings (loss) before taxes (63,840) 122,323 69,223 127,706
Income tax benefit (expense) 22,344 (44,991) (24,867) (47,514)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 121,688 — — (121,688) —

Net Earnings $ 80,192 $ 77,332 $ 44,356 $ (121,688) $ 80,192

(In thousands) Non- Elimination

Year Ended March 31, 2003 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net sales $ — $ 1,767,274 $ 19,690 $ — $ 1,786,964

Costs and Expenses:

Costs of products sold
(excluding depreciation) — 845,571 4,745 — 850,316

Selling, distribution and
administrative expenses 47,808 631,560 18,860 — 698,228

Depreciation 3,867 67,486 2,129 — 73,482
Amortization 64 6,298 — — 6,362
Special charges 145 2,549 — — 2,694

Operating Income (Loss) (51,884) 213,810 (6,044) — 155,882

Interest (expense) income, net (53,499) 8,211 (1,087) — (46,375)
(Discount) gain on

securitization of trade receivables — (67,446) 64,120 — (3,326)
Other income (expense), net 50,106 (51,834) 1,083 -- (645)
Equity in earnings of 

unconsolidated affiliates 2,668 1,100 — — 3,768
Earnings (loss) before taxes (52,609) 103,841 58,072 — 109,304
Income tax benefit (expense) 18,413 (39,783) (19,829) — (41,199)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 102,301 — — (102,301) —

Net Earnings $ 68,105 $ 64,058 $ 38,243 $ (102,301) $ 68,105

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination

Year Ended March 31, 2002 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net sales $ — $ 1,616,178 $ 19,869 $ — $ 1,636,047

Costs and Expenses:

Costs of products sold
(excluding depreciation) — 813,485 5,268 — 818,753

Selling, distribution and
administrative expenses 57,631 541,201 20,484 — 619,316

Depreciation 3,419 59,317 2,049 — 64,785
Amortization 161 7,999 — — 8,160

Operating Income (Loss) (61,211) 194,176 (7,932) — 125,033

Interest (expense) income, net (53,788) 6,656 119 — (47,013)
(Discount) gain on

securitization of trade receivables — (59,840) 54,994 — (4,846)
Other income (expense), net 54,099 (54,621) 1,904 — 1,382
Equity in earnings of 

unconsolidated affiliates 2,861 974 — — 3,835
Earnings (loss) before taxes and

a cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle (58,039) 87,345 49,085 — 78,391

Income tax benefit (expense) 20,313 (32,363) (17,756) — (29,806)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 27,311 — — (27,311) —
Cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle — (59,000) — — (59,000)
Net Earnings (Loss) $ (10,415) $ (4,018) $ 31,329 $ (27,311) $ (10,415)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination

Year Ended March 31, 2004 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities $ (29,023) $ 198,083 $ 40,035  $ — $ 209,095

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (15,087) (71,793) (6,869) — (93,749)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 1,519 3,436 392 — 5,347

Business acquisitions, holdbacks and other 

settlements of acquisition related liabilities — (34,907) — — (34,907)

Dividends and fees from

unconsolidated affiliates 756 1,391 — — 2,147

Other, net (1,461) — 92 — (1,369)

Net cash used in investing activities (14,273) (101,873) (6,385) — (122,531)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 411,970 — 2,327 — 414,297

Repayment of debt (471,785) (2,469) (10,750) — (485,004)

Financing costs (2,737) — — — (2,737)

Minority interest — — (291) — (291)

Exercise of stock options 13,130 — — — 13,130

Dividends paid to stockholders (11,801) — — — (11,801)

Cash overdraft (14,149) — (9) — (14,158)

Inter-company 118,668 (93,741) (24,927) — —

Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities 43,296 (96,210) (33,650) — (86,564)

Change In Cash $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —

Cash – Beginning of year — — — — —

Cash – End of year $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination

Year Ended March 31, 2003 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities $ (21,608) $ 181,070 $ 34,937 $ — $ 194,399

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (7,211) (56,415) (4,343) — (67,969)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 69 4,191 — — 4,260

Proceeds from divestiture — 3,167 — — 3,167

Business acquisitions, holdbacks and other

settlements of acquisition related liabilities — (27,216) — — (27,216)

Dividends and fees from 

unconsolidated affiliates 943 1,564 — — 2,507

Other, net 5,666 (8,051) 666 — (1,719)

Net cash used in investing activities (533) (82,760) (3,677) — (86,970)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 248,123 — 838 — 248,961

Repayment of debt (350,732) (15,160) (1,464) — (367,356)

Exercise of stock options 9,847 — — — 9,847

Cash overdraft 1,119 — — — 1,119

Inter-company 113,784 (83,150) (30,634) — —

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 22,141 (98,310) (31,260) — (107,429)

Change In Cash $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —

Cash – Beginning of year — — — — —

Cash – End of year $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —

(In thousands) Non- Elimination

Year Ended March 31, 2002 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in) 

operating activities $ (44,830) $ 282,515 $ 11,696 $ — $ 249,381

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (9,901) (46,554) (1,842) — (58,297)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment — 3,216 — — 3,216

Proceeds from divestiture — 10,200 — — 10,200

Business acquisitions, holdbacks and other 

settlements of acquisition related liabilities — (257,556) — — (257,556)

Dividends and fees from 

unconsolidated affiliates 954 1,629 — — 2,583

Other, net 16,329 (11,098) (78) — 5,153

Net cash provided by (used in) 

investing activities 7,382 (300,163) (1,920) — (294,701)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 677,605 — 2,539 — 680,144

Repayment of debt (580,527) (26,619) (5,633) — (612,779)

Financing costs (12,461) — — — (12,461)

Exercise of stock options 7,442 — — — 7,442

Cash overdraft — (17,026) — — (17,026)

Inter-company (54,611) 61,293 (6,682) — —

Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities 37,448 17,648 (9,776) — 45,320

Change In Cash $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —

Cash – Beginning of year — — — — —

Cash – End of year $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
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Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Free Cash Flow
(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 100,092 $ 199,005 $ 249,381 $ 194,399 $ 209,095 

Less: Net cash provided by operating 

activities of National Welders (1) — — — — (9,831)

Plus: Dividends from equity affiliates 3,973 3,668 2,583 2,507 2,147 

Management fees paid by 

National Welders to the Company (1) — — — — 249 

Less: Cash provided by the securitization 

of trade receivables — (73,200) (60,800) (24,900) (3,700)

Capital expenditures (65,211) (65,910) (58,297) (67,969) (93,749)

Plus: Capital expenditures of National Welders (1) — — — — 2,265 

Free Cash Flow $ 38,854 $ 63,563 $ 132,867 $ 104,037 $ 106,476 

(1) National Welders Supply Co. (“National Welders”) is a joint venture which met the definition of a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”) under FIN 46R. National Welders was consoli-

dated when the Company adopted FIN 46R effective December 31, 2003. Prior to December 31, 2003 the Company used the equity method to account for National Welders.

The liabilities of National Welders are non-recourse to the Company. In addition, the cash flows of National Welders, in excess of a management fee, are not available to the

Company. Accordingly, the cash flows of National Welders have been excluded from the Company’s non-GAAP liquidity measures.

The Company believes Free Cash Flow provides investors meaningful insight into the ability of the Company to generate cash from continuing operations, which can be used to

make acquisitions, repay debt or support other investing and financing activities.

Reconciliation of Diluted Earnings Per Share as Reported to Diluted Earnings Per Share, Excluding Certain Gains 
and Charges

Years Ended March 31, 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Diluted Earnings Per Share As Reported $ 0.54 $ 0.42 $ (0.15) $ 0.94 $ 1.07 

Change in accounting principle 0.01 — 0.84 — —

Goodwill amortization, prior to the 

adoption of SFAS 142 0.19 0.20 — — —

Litigation settlements/charges 0.07 0.06 0.08 — —

Restructuring/special charges (recoveries), net (0.02) 0.03 — 0.03 (0.01)

Non-recurring (gains) losses from divestitures (0.11) — 0.01 — —

Other 0.04 0.01 — — —

Diluted Earnings Per Share, excluding 

certain gains and charges $ 0.72 $ 0.72 $ 0.78 $ 0.97 $ 1.06

The Company believes that diluted earnings per share, excluding certain gains and charges noted above, are more indicative of the Company’s on-going operations and provide

investors meaningful trend information.
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Reconciliation and Computation of Return on Capital
(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Operating income $ 106,731 $ 107,949 $ 125,033 $ 155,882 $ 167,780 

Plus (Less):

Restructuring/special charges (recoveries) , net (2,829) 3,643 — 2,694 (776)

Litigation settlements/charges 7,500 5,791 8,501 — —

Other 3,800 — — — —

Depreciation and amortization 89,308 86,754 72,945 79,844 87,956 

Dividends and fees from unconsolidated affiliates 3,973 3,668 2,583 2,507 2,147 

Eighty percent of depreciation expense (50,908) (50,350) (51,828) (58,786) (66,054)

Current income tax (expense) benefit (18,428) (15,566) 4,772 (32,544) (24,342)

Current taxes related to divestitures 7,680 5,069 — — —

Deferred income tax reclassification — — (18,986) 18,986 —

Tax benefit from interest expense and 

discount on securitization of trade receivables (23,873) (25,219) (19,706) (18,886) (17,334)

Total return 122,954 121,739 123,314 149,697 149,377 

Five-quarter average capital employed (1) 1,507,761 1,522,763 1,457,613 1,647,381 1,736,058 

Return on Capital 8.2% 8.0% 8.5% 9.1% 8.6%

(1) Average capital employed represents total assets plus trade receivables under the securitization program, less accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities.

The Company believes this return on capital computation provides investors a measure to reflect the relationship between operating results and average capital employed. This

measure helps investors assess how effectively the Company uses the capital invested in its operations.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures (Unaudited)

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Airgas, Inc.:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Airgas, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statement of earnings, stockholders’ equity and 
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
March 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes exam-
ining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a rea-
sonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2004 and 2003,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2004, in con-
formity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and
other intangible assets and derivative instruments and hedging
activities effective April 1, 2001 and its method of accounting for
variable interest entities effective December 31, 2003.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 

May 3, 2004

Statement of Management’s Financial Responsibility

Management has prepared and is responsible for the integrity and
objectivity of the consolidated financial statements and related finan-
cial information in this Annual Report. The statements are prepared
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. The financial statements reflect manage-
ment’s informed judgment and estimation as to the effect of events
and transactions that are accounted for or disclosed.

Management maintains a system of internal control, which includes
disclosure controls and procedures, at each business unit. This sys-
tem is designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safe-
guarded, records properly reflect transactions executed in accordance
with management’s authorization, and material information related
to the Company is made known to management and disclosed in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Management has evaluated the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls as of March 31,
2004. Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective and
ensure that material information is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported as required by accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

The Company also maintains a staff of internal auditors who review
and evaluate the system of internal control on a continual basis. In
determining the extent of the system of internal control, manage-
ment recognizes that the cost should not exceed the benefits derived.
The evaluation of these factors requires estimates and judgment by
management.

The Company’s financial statements have been audited by KPMG
LLP, an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Their Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Report, which
is based on an audit made in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, is presented on
this page. In performing their audit, KPMG LLP considers the
Company’s internal control structure to the extent they deem neces-
sary in order to plan their audit, determine the nature, timing and
extent of tests to be performed and issue their report on the consoli-
dated financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting solely of
independent Directors, meets regularly (jointly and separately) with
the independent auditors, the internal auditors and management to
satisfy itself that they are properly discharging their responsibilities.
The auditors have direct access to the Audit Committee.

Airgas, Inc.

Peter McCausland
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Roger F. Millay
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

May 3, 2004

Report of Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm
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Corporate Office
259 North Radnor-Chester Road

Radnor, PA 19087-5283

Telephone: 800 255-2165

Fax: 610 687-1052

www.airgas.com

Annual Meeting
The 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Airgas, Inc. will 

be held at 11 a.m. on August 4, 2004 at Four Seasons Hotel, One

Logan Square, Philadelphia, PA 19103.

Financial Information
Airgas’ Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission is available to stockholders at

www.airgas.com, or upon request, without charge. Requests for

copies of Airgas’ Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly earn-

ings reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and

other stockholder inquiries should be directed to:

Investor Relations Department

Airgas, Inc.

259 North Radnor-Chester Road

Radnor, PA 19087-5283

Telephone: 610 902-6205

Fax: 610 225-3271

E-mail: investor@airgas.com

Quarterly Stock Information

High Low

Fiscal 2004
First Quarter $ 20.61 $ 16.75
Second Quarter 19.44 17.64
Third Quarter 21.55 18.20
Fourth Quarter 24.35 19.85

Fiscal 2003
First Quarter $ 19.68 $ 15.72
Second Quarter 16.97 12.68
Third Quarter 17.25 11.87
Fourth Quarter 18.98 15.50

Corporate Information

Common Stock
Airgas’ common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Ticker Symbol: ARG

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
KPMG LLP

1601 Market Street

Philadelphia, PA 19103

Transfer Agent
The Bank of New York

101 Barclay Street

New York, NY 10286

Equal Opportunity at Airgas
Airgas is committed to providing equal opportunities in the

workplace.

Forward-Looking Statements
All forward-looking statements are based on current expectations

regarding important risk factors, which include, but are not limit-

ed to, the factors described in “Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” con-

tained in this Annual Report.
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Chairman
DBH Associates

W. Thacher Brown (1)(4)

Chairman and President
1838 Investment Advisors, LLC

James W. Hovey (4)

President
The Fox Companies

David M. Stout (3)

President, Pharmaceuticals
GlaxoSmithKline

Paula A. Sneed (2)

Senior Vice President
Global Marketing Resources
Kraft Foods

Peter McCausland (1)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Airgas, Inc.

Lee M. Thomas (3)(4)

President and Chief Operating Officer
Georgia-Pacific Corporation

William O. Albertini (2)

Former Chief Financial Officer
Bell Atlantic Corporation

Robert L. Yohe (3)

Former Vice Chairman
Olin Corporation

(1) Executive Committee 
(2) Audit Committee 
(3) Governance and Compensation Committee 
(4) Finance Committee

Board of Directors
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Airgas, Inc. 
259 North Radnor-Chester Road
Radnor, PA 19087–5283
www.airgas.com




